

THE IMPACISOF INDUSTRIAL LOGGING IN THE GREAT NORTHERN FOREST

Greenpeace/Jani Sipilä

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Great Northern Forest, the boreal forest landscape that rings the subarctic, represents nearly one-third of the forest left on Earth. These vast forests are home to a rich diversity of native mammals ranging from reindeer (in Northern Europe and Russia) and caribou (in North America) to wolverines and lynx. Its trees, plants, and soils (including vast areas of peatlands and permafrost) store more carbon than the world's tropical forests.

The Great Northern Forest comprises old growth forest system, with both old growth and new growth resulting from natural disturbances (e.g. fires), and managed forest (i.e. subject to periodic industrially logging). Some of this old growth, particularly in Canada and Russia, exists within large tracts of forest ecosystems with no signs of significant human activity – known as Intact Forest Landscapes (IFLs).

All old growth boreal forest systems have High Conservation Value (HCV). They are complex ecosystems with an abundance of old large trees and dead wood providing habitat for a wealth of species, from birds that nest in the cavities of dead trees, to a host of specialist insects, lichens and fungi. The Great Northern Forest is also home to several hundred Indigenous communities who have governed and stewarded their lands and waters since time immemorial.

The Great Northern Forest is the evergreen crown of the planet. This amazing ecosystem is an important global reservoir of stored carbon and a crucial haven for biodiversity in the face of climate change. To save the beauty and the incredible diversity of life we need to base our relation with the forest on scientific facts. These facts you will find in this report.

FACT: Old growth forests systems are better for biodiversity.

There are substantial differences between a managed boreal forest and an old growth boreal forest, particularly in terms of biodiversity, and with regards to specialist species that depend on old growth. Once an old growth boreal forest has been industrially logged, the complex biodiversity of the old growth forest system is not replaced within a human lifetime, but can take up to 200 years or more. The rotation period in a managed boreal forest (typically 70-120 years) does not allow the forest to develop sufficient old growth characteristics that are so important to biodiversity.

Industrial logging fundamentally damages old growth forests, destroying the results of centuries of complex natural interactions. Many elements of the original forest do recover over time, but many only over time spans far exceeding industrial logging cycles, and some not at all. A forest that is regularly logged (i.e. managed) is poorer in many critical aspects than an old growth forest. Influential actors within the forestry industry wants the public to believe that old growth boreal forest systems are entirely renewable over a short time frame, but this is far from being the case.

Characteristics such as structural complexity, dead wood, and the abundance and diversity of lichens can be destroyed for generations by industrial logging. Species such as the woodland caribou in Canada, heavily dependent on lichens as food source, may be driven out and most likely will never return. In Sweden, the region of the Great Northern Forest with the longest history of large-scale industrial logging, there has been a decline in populations of hundreds of forest species since the introduction of modern, intensive forest management practices in the 1950s, with logging currently believed to be having significant negative impacts on over 1,300 red-listed (i.e. threatened or near-threatened) plants, animals, fungi and lichens.

FACT: Industrial logging is threatening the survival of woodland caribou.

Woodland caribou in Canada act as a key indicator for the health of the forest and the other species that live there. These caribou require large areas of undisturbed coniferous forest habitat to survive, with old growth open lichen woodlands and bogs being their preferred habitats. In Canada, the population is classed as "threatened" because of alarming falling numbers in herd size. Caribou are particularly susceptible to habitat loss from industrial logging because this disrupts sensitive predator-prey dynamics and it takes many decades for the forest to develop sufficiently to allow enough lichen growth to support them. While the areas harvested each year may appear small in an ecosystem as large as the Great Northern Forest, it is the ongoing fragmentation and erosion of old growth habitat, year after year, that jeopardises the survival of woodland caribou. Woodland caribou have already disappeared from approximately half of their historic range in North America coincident with intensive resource exploitation, including logging.

FACT: The impacts of industrial logging are substantially different to those of natural fires.

Industrial logging specifically targets mature and old forest areas, while fire affects forest of all ages, meaning some areas will escape fire and reach much greater ages than in a logging rotation. For example, in one particular Quebec boreal forest landscape with a fire return interval of approximately 300 years, 78% of unmanaged forest consisted of old stands (>120 years old), whilst the managed forest area consisted of only 28% old stands. Put simply, industrial logging is far more efficient and uniform in affecting the older tree stands than fires.

Moreover, losses of forest from industrial logging is, in most cases, additional to losses from fires, meaning the overall forest disturbance has increased. In eastern Canada, it is estimated that industrial logging has increased the annual rate of disturbance by 74% above the natural disturbance regime.

FACT: Old growth forests are better in the fight against climate change.

Old growth forest ecosystems are important in terms of both carbon storage and carbon uptake. More carbon is stored in the trees if they are not subject to industrial logging. As a group of one hundred and ninety scientists recently argued, 'increasing harvest levels have a negative impact on the climate because the standing forest carbon stock is immediately reduced when harvested. It may take decades to centuries until the former level of the carbon stock is restored by regrowth – especially if old growth forests are clearcut'. Modelling of historical forest management across Europe, including Norway, Sweden and Finland, shows that, overall, European forests have released more carbon to the atmosphere than they have taken up over the past 250 years, largely because of the removal of wood from the forest.

The Great Northern Forest holds a high proportion (approx. 95%) of its total carbon in soil. Although responses to logging vary with the type of forest and method

of logging, soil carbon is generally reduced by industrial logging because when the trees are cut down the ground warms as it receives more sunlight; this increases the activity of microbes (bacteria and fungi) which break down organic matter in the soil and emit carbon dioxide to the atmosphere. Once lost, the (re-) accumulation of stable soil carbon takes place only slowly and disturbed soil can continue to release carbon for many years following harvest.

The majority of carbon removed by industrial logging from a boreal forest is not stored in long-lived wood products, but released to the atmosphere over a short time scale, where it can contribute to climate change. For Finland and Sweden, analysis shows that less than 4% of the original carbon in wood extracted from the forest remains stored in wood products after 100 years, with the rest released to the atmosphere. Indeed, roughly 60% of the harvested wood is used for pulp and paper and most of this carbon (75%) is released back into the atmosphere over a time scale of only four years.

Whilst managed forests provide a useful and vital resource for timber production, they do not support the full complement of wildlife and ecosystem services (e.g. water quality) provided by old growth forest. There is an urgent need to preserve, and in some cases restore, large areas of the Great Northern Forest to increase its resilience to climate change, protect its carbon stores and maintain biodiversity.

There is a way forward. Greenpeace's vision for the Great Northern Forest is to have greater protection of high conservation value areas and intact forest landscapes. Greater forest protection can co-exist with a responsible logging industry. We are committed to working with Indigenous Peoples and their governments as well as a breadth of stakeholders – policy makers, impacted communities, companies and civil society – to forge long-term solutions for the Great Northern Forest.

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
CONTENTS	4
WHAT IS THE GREAT NORTHERN FOREST?	
WHAT TYPES OF LOGGING TAKE PLACE IN THE GREAT NORTHERN FOREST?	8
GREENPEACE SUPPORTS RESPONSIBLE LOGGING	10
HOW DOES INDUSTRIAL LOGGING CHANGE THE FOREST?	
WHAT DOES INDUSTRIAL LOGGING MEAN FOR WILDLIFE?	19
WHAT ECOSYSTEM SERVICES ARE	
DISRUPTED BY INDUSTRIAL LOGGING?	23
DOES INDUSTRIAL LOGGING HAVE	
THE SAME IMPACT AS NATURAL FOREST FIRES?	24
HOW INDUSTRIAL LOGGING WORSENS CLIMATE CHANGE	25
LARGE SCALE PROBLEMS NEED LARGE SCALE SOLUTIONS	29
CONCLUSION	30
GLOSSARY	
REFERENCES	32
BIBLIOGRAPHY	38

We would like to thank Professor Jay Malcolm for comments on an earlier draft of this report.

WHAT IS THE GREAT NORTHERN FOREST?



Fig. 1 The Great Northern Forest (GNF) consists of vast areas of boreal forest landscapes that stretches from Alaska, through Canada and Scandinavia, all the way to Russia (Copyright: Greenpeace).

The Great Northern Forest, also known as the boreal forest, rings the planet's land surface south of the arctic zone (see Fig. 1), covering parts of Russia, Canada, Alaska (USA), Sweden, Norway and Finland. It represents nearly one-third of the forest left on Earth^[1], with about 30% of it classed as primary (or old growth) forest^[2]. ^[3] The Great Northern Forest includes over 40% of the world's Intact Forest Landscapes (IFLs).^[4] These landscapes include water bodies, such as lakes, and areas of forest subjected to natural disturbances (e.g. wildfires, storm damages, insect outbreaks).^[5] Whilst Intact Forest Landscapes generally contain a high proportion of old growth forests, old growth forests also exist outside such areas in smaller fragments^[6].^[7] Both Intact Forest Landscapes and old growth forests have High Conservation Value (see box on High Conservation Values).

The vast boreal landscapes include the territories of several hundred Indigenous communities^[8], who have governed and stewarded the land since time immemorial. Indeed, some of the boreal forest's features today reflect this human interaction, which has "…inextricably tied Indigenous Peoples to the landscapes that sustain and define the diverse Indigenous cultures."^[9] In other words, these forests are Indigenous Cultural Land-scapes^[10] of deep social, cultural and economic value. Respecting the knowledge and rights of these communities is essential for lasting forest protection.

The Great Northern Forest is home to a rich diversity of native mammals ranging from moose and bears, through beavers, wolverines and porcupines, to martens and flying squirrels. Reindeer (Northern Europe and Russia) and caribou (North America) live in the Great Northern Forest and the tundra beyond.^[11] Large predators include brown and grizzly bears, wolves and the Siberian tiger.^[12] The understory in old growth forests includes a remarkable range and abundance of mosses, lichens and fungi^[13], which in turn host an array of insects, providing the basis of food webs.

The boreal forest ecosystem stores an enormous amount of carbon. Altogether, its trees, plants, and soils (including vast areas of peatlands and permafrost) store more carbon than the world's tropical forests. ^[14],^[15] This makes the Great Northern Forest the single largest terrestrial carbon store on the planet. Most of the carbon in the Great Northern Forest is in its soils, with only 5% in the trees themselves.^[16]

The composition, in terms of tree species of the Great Northern Forest varies across the region, depending on soil type, climate and the impacts of industrial logging (see How does industrial logging influence tree composition?). The forest is dominated by coniferous species such as pine, spruce, larch and fir, but also in some areas contains deciduous trees, such as poplar (e.g. aspen) and birch.^[17] Natural disturbances such as fires and insect outbreaks are an integral part of the boreal forest's cycle of disturbance and regeneration. This means that a natural boreal forest landscape will typically be a mix of old growth forest with other tree stands at various stages of recovery from a disturbance.^[18] The frequency of fires varies considerably across the Great Northern Forest. For much of the boreal, fire occurs at an interval of a few centuries, but this ranges from of 50-100 years in the drier, continental parts of the boreal, to practically never in the wettest, coastal parts. ^[19] However, industrial activities are now adding further disruption to the natural disturbance regime in the Great Northern Forest.^[20]

The Great Northern Forest is often regarded as largely unfragmented by human activity. In fact, much is already disturbed, fragmented and degraded. Different regions of the boreal have different histories of largescale logging, with the longest histories dating back several centuries in Norway, Finland and Sweden^[21], to approximately the 1920s in Canada^[22] and the end of the second world war in Russia^[23]. Historically, as old growth forests in accessible areas became harvested the industrial logging frontier progressively opened up previously inaccessible areas, generally moving northwards. This move towards less accessible areas is largely continuing in Russia^[24], and in Canada^[25] up to the 'northern limit' of commercial forestry in the latter. ^[26]. Particularly in Northern Europe, there is now greater emphasis on rotational logging in previously logged forests^[27], where areas are industrially logged after an interval to allow regrowth.

It is reported that nearly two-thirds of boreal forests are currently under some form of management scheme, mostly for timber production: 35 to 40% in Canada, 58% in Russia and 90% in Fennoscandia.^[28] In Russia a substantial proportion (up to 20%^[29]) of logging is illegal.^[30] Human disturbance is increasing in all boreal regions as demand for resources increases, leading to the Great Northern Forest becoming increasingly degraded and fragmented^[31] by activities such as industrial logging, mining, oil extraction, agriculture and infrastructure development. Importantly, many old growth forests are either being, or have been, converted to forests managed primarily for timber, where they are subject to rotational, industrial logging. Globally, less than 3% of the Great Northern Forest is in formally protected areas, compared with over 25% of tropical forests, although the amount protected varies from region to region.[32]



INDIGENOUS PEOPLES' RIGHTS

The right to Free, Prior and Informed Consent, enshrined in the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, is the internationally recognized minimum standard for ensuring the survival, dignity and well-being of Indigenous Peoples in the context of resource development within their traditional territories^[33]. This means that logging companies operating in the boreal forest should only harvest in or source from an area with the explicit consent of the Indigenous communities that have called that land home for millennia.

Many Indigenous communities participate in the forest products industry and have some level of industrial logging on their territories. However, their right to determine where and how much of this activity takes place is critical. Many Indigenous governments and Peoples are also calling for strong protection of the forests on their land.

Regardless of whether an Indigenous government's choice is for development or conservation, governments, forest companies and environmental organisations must respect their right to make such a determination. Indigenous Peoples must be central to any lasting and socially just solutions on the ground.

Greenpeace/Tatiana Khakimulina

WHAT TYPES OF LOGGING TAKE PLACE IN THE GREAT NORTHERN FOREST?

Across the Great Northern Forest, logging practices vary. They have also changed over time, and continue to do so as national regulations and policies are revised. ^[34] A common logging practice is clearcutting (industrial logging), where all (or nearly all) the trees in an area are cut down at the same time. For example, clearcutting accounted for over 90% of logging in Canada in 2015.[35] In many managed forests, neighbouring areas are clear cut at different times in rotation, leading to a patchwork of forest stands currently being cleared alongside areas of new and older regrowth. Individual clearcuts vary greatly in size: from sometimes even under two hectares in Finland^[36], through tens of hectares in Russia^[37] to up to over two thousand hectares in some parts of Canada^[38]. The rotation period or interval between industrial logging cycles also typically varies from 70 to around 120 years.^[39] The trees are taken for timber and/or pulp (mainly for paper products) and the logged area either replanted or left to regrow naturally.

Other forms of logging include selective logging, where individual trees or small groups of trees are harvested, typically of the best timber quality.^[40] In Finland, Sweden and Norway, several cycles of thinning are typically carried out on a stand over the decades before a final clearcut.^[41] Salvage logging of dead wood sometimes occurs in some regions, particularly after windstorms, forest fires or insect outbreaks.^[42] Retention logging, where typically between 5 and 10% of living trees are left within a clearcut is becoming increasingly used in Canada and Sweden.^[43]



MANAGED VERSUS NATURAL FORESTS

In the context of the boreal forest, scientific literature generally uses the term 'managed forest' to describe forest subject to periodic industrial logging (typically of between 70-120 years^[44]). However, the Canadian government applies the term 'managed forests' to a geographically defined area of forest, which can encompass a range of practices from intense management for timber to extremely little human intervention^[45]. In this report, the term 'managed forest' is applied to those forests subject to periodic industrial logging, to differentiate from a natural forest.

Old growth forests can originate from either managed or natural forests. The key concept of old growth forests is that they exhibit certain characteristics such as abundance of dead wood and lichen that develop over a long period of time, 150 years or more^[46]. Thus, although old growth forests may have been historically disturbed by humans, they have recovered sufficiently to display many of the characteristics (and ecological functions) of a mature natural forest. The concept of old growth forest is highly similar to that of a primary forest, where the key concept is that "there are no clearly visible indications of human activities and the ecological processes are not significantly disturbed"^[47]. The terms primary and old growth are used interchangeably in this report.



Greenpeace/Risto Sauso

GREENPEACE SUPPORTS RESPONSIBLE LOGGING

Many areas of the Great Northern Forest have a history, in some cases centuries, of managed forestry and have undergone a series of cutting and regrowth cycles. These areas can provide a reliable supply of logs for industry and steady jobs for local communities. Greenpeace supports responsible, certified logging in these areas, subject to Indigenous Peoples' rights and their Free, Prior and Informed Consent. However, managed forestry must go alongside conservation. Greenpeace's ambition for the Great Northern Forest is for a diverse and resilient forest, with greater protection of high conservation value areas and intact forest landscapes. Greenpeace seeks to join in the collaborative building of conservation plans, with Indigenous Peoples at the center.



HOW DOES INDUSTRIAL LOGGING CHANGE THE FOREST?

The forest created by industrial logging is very different from a forest that is shaped predominantly by natural processes. Old growth boreal forests are complex ecosystems with an abundance of old large trees, large standing dead trees, and a diverse array of dead wood on the forest floor. All these provide habitat for many species, from birds that nest in the cavities of dead trees, to a multitude of insect and fungi species that specialize on dead wood habitats.^[48] Industrial logging creates a system managed by regular large-scale human disturbance. Both types of forest have trees but, as explained below, the managed forest that results is not the same as the old growth forest that was cut down.

WHAT IS OLD GROWTH (OR PRIMARY) FOREST?

Naturally, the Great Northern Forest has been, and continues to be, shaped by dynamic processes, notably fire (in most areas), windthrow from storms and insect epidemics. In addition, numerous features of today's boreal forest reflect the long-term interactions with Indigenous Peoples, based on their land-care knowledge and adaptive livelihood practices. Therefore, "primary" doesn't necessarily mean a forest has only old trees, but a variety of characteristics that imply the area is free from industrial disturbance for long enough for traces of the disturbance not to be evident^[49].

After a disturbance (e.g. logging or fire), regeneration depends on the forest type^[50] but in general, different tree species re-establish themselves at different rates. Some trees are 'pioneers' that sprout quickly from seed, roots or stumps (such as certain pines, birch and aspen^[51]), others are 'late succession' species (such as shade-tolerant firs and spruces^[52]), which typically grow in established forest, sometimes having persisted as seedlings for many decades^[53] until there is a gap caused by an older tree dying. Thus, the regenerating forest may pass through several phases before eventually displaying old growth characteristics, and the exact details of the successional process can be complex^[54] (Fig. 2). Old growth forests can also go through multiple phases of such successional events. For example, disturbances on smaller scales than fires (such as windthrow) can provide opportunities for the re-establishment of pioneer species, and a new cycle of ecological succession. Some boreal forest types, e.g. those dominated by black spruce or balsam fir in Canada, are self-replacing with the same species and the main change is increasing structural complexity, rather than a change in tree species as the forest develops old growth characteristics.^[55]



As old trees die, they create gaps in the forest for new trees to grow. This "gap dynamic" phase is an indicator of old growth forest. Arkhangelsk Region, NE Russia.

(Copyright: Greenpeace/Tatiana Khakimulina)

Although characteristics of old growth stands are variable depending on the boreal forest type, they generally include^[56] an abundance of old and large trees including late-successional tree species. The trees are of uneven ages and there is much dead wood. either standing or on the forest floor, particularly of large diameter standing dead trees and fallen logs. Old growth forests are structurally complex and exhibit a high diversity of habitat features: a high diversity of tree sizes and species, complex three-dimensional structure, and a high diversity of dead wood resources, including with respect to size, species composition, and stages of decay of the wood. [57] The understory in old growth forests includes exceptionally diverse plant life: although typically containing a low abundance of vascular (including flowering) plants, there is a remarkable range and abundance of bryophytes (non-vascular plants such as mosses and liverworts), lichens (both those that grow on trees and those that grow on the ground) and fungi.[58]

The structural complexity of an old growth forest provides habitat for a wealth of animal species.^[59] For example, standing dead wood (or snags) provide nesting sites for birds such as hawk owls.^[60] The cavities that birds such as woodpeckers excavate in dead or dying trees may be subsequently used by other birds and mammals (e.g. red squirrels or flying squirrels^[61]) as nests and dens. In winter, lichen on the ground and on older trees is a major part of the diet of caribou (or reindeer).^[62] Lichen is also important as shelter and food for a number of insects and spiders, which are in turn important food sources for birds.^[63] Indeed, many species reach their highest abundances in, or may be dependent on old growth forests; examples include the caribou, American marten, Siberian flying squirrel, and Siberian tit (or gray-headed chickadee).^[64]

"Natural old growth forests in the [European] Boreal Region are now extremely rare and represent only a tiny fraction of the original habitat which once covered the region. Intensive forestry has removed many of the characteristic features of natural forests: dead and rotting wood, variation in tree size, age and species composition. Yet, these are essential features for maintaining the rich array of forest plants and animals present." - European Commission 2009^[65]

Old growth forest either are, or should be, classified as areas of high conservation value (HCV, see box on High Conservation Values) because of their biodiversity (including rare or threatened species), ecosystem services and cultural values.

HIGH CONSERVATION VALUES (HCVs)

According to the HCV Resource Network, 'High conservation values are biological, ecological, social or cultural values which are outstandingly significant or critically important at the national, regional or global level'.^[66] The identification and protection of HCVs are part of the principles and criteria or global procurement and investment policies of many certification schemes, private sector organisations and financial institutions.

There are six categories: [66]

HCV 1: Concentrations of biological diversity including endemic species, and rare, threatened or endangered species, that are significant at global, regional or national levels.

HCV 2: Landscape-level ecosystems and mosaics. Intact forest landscapes and large landscape-level ecosystems and ecosystem mosaics that are significant at global, regional or national levels, and that contain viable populations of the great majority of the naturally occurring species in natural patterns of distribution and abundance.

HCV 3: Rare, threatened, or endangered ecosystems, habitats or refugia.

HCV 4: Basic ecosystem services in critical situations, including protection of water catchments and control of erosion of vulnerable soils and slopes.

HCV 5: Sites and resources fundamental for satisfying the basic necessities of local communities or Indigenous Peoples (for livelihoods, health, nutrition, water, etc), identified through engagement with these communities or Indigenous Peoples.

HCV 6: Sites, resources, habitats and landscapes of global or national cultural, archaeological or historical significance, and/or of critical cultural, ecological, economic or religious/sacred importance for the traditional cultures of local communities or Indigenous Peoples, identified through engagement with these local communities or Indigenous Peoples.

HOW DOES AN INDUSTRIALLY-LOGGED FOREST DIFFER FROM AN OLD GROWTH FOREST?

Industrial logging of either an old growth or managed forest disrupts the forest ecosystem in multiple ways. These include fragmentation of animal habitats, breaking food chains and altering water systems. Importantly, industrial logging of a primary or old growth forest often means that it is being converted from a natural forest into a managed forest. That is, once the old growth is cut, the forest may then be cyclically logged, typically every 70-120 years. However, it takes up to 200-300 years for a logged forest to exhibit the characteristics of an old growth forest again (Fig. 2; see "How long does 'old growth' forest take to re-grow"). This means that a managed forest generally does not have time to develop old growth characteristics. Thus, the complex characteristics of old growth are lost and the uniform stands that regrow, and are subsequently logged before they reach the old growth stage, are unable to support the specialist biodiversity of an old growth forest.



Industrial, clear-cut logging removes virtually all the trees in an area, disrupting the forest ecosystem. It can take up to 200-300 years for a forest to fully recover old growth characteristics. In the Great Northern Forest, the typical interval between logging cycles is 70-120 years, so the forest may never recover completely. Montagnes Blanches, Quebec, Canada.

(Copyright: Markus Mauthe/Greenpeace)

has potential to, affect a larger portion of the landscape overall. This results in the landscape having less old growth than under a natural disturbance regime, as there are more trees of a younger age.^[67] For example, since the introduction of modern, intensive forest management practices in Sweden in the 1950s, large areas of old growth forest have been industrially logged and the wider forest landscape fragmented. ^[68] This has led to 60% of Sweden's remaining forest to be under 60 years old. ^[69]

"Eighty years of forest management in a region [in Canada] where the natural fire cycle is long have strongly modified the landscape by reducing the proportion of old growth forests and modifying forest composition and spatial patterns." - Boucher et al. 2015^[70]

In the Great Northern Forest, natural disturbances typically create large amounts of dead wood; for example, downed trees from windthrow and the abundant standing dead trees left after a fire.^[71] As well as removing trees, industrial logging reduces the amount of dead wood because the period during which trees are left to die naturally is shortened. This dead wood is vital as food and habitat for many organisms including birds, insects and fungi and as a substrate for many lichens. ^[72] Indeed, dead wood is regarded as a key ecological indicator of the health of a forest, as the insects that feed on the decaying wood underpin a food web, and it provides nesting sites for many species.^[73]



Fallen, dead trees provide a substrate for moss and lichen in old growth spruce forest, Arkhangelsk Region, NE Russia. Dead wood is a key ecological indicator of the health of a forest, but is reduced by industrial logging.

(Copyright: Greenpeace/Tatiana Khakimulina)

Logging, by definition, removes trees from the forest and disrupts the forest ecosystem. Industrial logging of an old growth forest decreases the abundances of older and larger trees. Although the patches from clearcutting may often be smaller than those created by fire or insect damage, industrial logging either is, or The logged area may be replanted, particularly in Sweden^[74] and Canada^[75] or left to regrow naturally. Replanting, no matter how varied the seed source, cannot replace the complexities of the old growth forest within a human lifetime. Following industrial logging, both replanting and natural regrowth tend to produce

uniformly aged younger stands, with trees of a similar age and size^[76]. In addition, non-native tree species may be used in replanting. Some of these can outcompete native tree species and become problematic, such as lodgepole pine (a North American species) in Sweden. ^[77] Conifer-dominated plantings are typically treated with glyphosate based herbicides in some parts of Canada to reduce competition from deciduous species^[78], although this practice has ceased in Scandinavia^[79]. Application of herbicides can affect the recovery of plants. For example, in Canada, the diversity and abundance of lichens was also affected by post-logging herbicide treatments for at least 40 years.^[80]

HOW LONG DOES 'OLD GROWTH' FOREST TAKE TO RE-GROW?

Industrial logging in the Great Northern Forest is not considered to be deforestation by the UN, because trees eventually grow back, even if not in the same species mix.^[81] This can lead to the myth that the industrial logging system is sustainable because it doesn't deforest (i.e. the land is not subsequently used for agriculture). However, whilst industrial logging in the Great Northern Forest may not be deforestation, the reality is that it takes many decades for the forest to even come near its original biomass and, if a similar time-scale to recover from fire disturbance is assumed, it takes centuries for its old growth characteristics and biodiversity to recover (see Fig 2 and "Don't young trees replace forest carbon as the forest regrows?").

The low temperatures and long winters of the boreal zone slow the rate of tree growth. This means the Great Northern Forest takes a long time to recover from a disturbance. The relative short history (<100 years) of industrial logging in some parts of the boreal (e.g. Canada) means predictions for forest recovery can only be based on recovery from fire disturbance and evidence from historical logging in the European boreal forest.

Recovery time depends on the characteristics of the forest, with some types of forests, dominated by relatively short-lived species, such as balsam fir in Canada, developing old growth characteristics more quickly (100-150 years) than those dominated by long-lived species, such as spruce in Canada, spruces and larches in Russia, and both spruce and Scots pine in Fennoscandia (200-300 years)^[82]. In general, the forest only begins to develop old growth characteristics after roughly 100-150 years.^[83] This leads, after up to 200-300 years, into what is termed a "gap dynamic" phase, which is one of the defining features of an old growth boreal forest^[84] where older trees die, creating gaps into which younger trees can grow up^[85] (Fig. 2). Gaps may also be created by small-scale natural disturbances, such as fire and windthrow. Severe fires can interrupt and reset the succession.[86]

It is only in this "gap dynamic" phase that lichen species can recover their abundance and diversity. This is because some of these species, e.g. tree lungwort^[87] depend on processes and habitat structures present only in old growth stands, such as old trees or fallen trees and some species require specific climatic conditions, such as either shade or open gaps and moisture that are only found in old growth stands.^[88] For example, it can take more than 130 years for the abundance of tree lichens to recover fully in Sweden.[89] In Quebec, Canada, it's estimated that differences between harvested and old growth forest would still be seen 200 years after industrial logging.^[90] In Sweden, it is estimated that it takes 100-150 years after selective logging for structural characteristics of old growth to return, but that 300 years might be needed to develop a clearly uneven age structure.^[91] In conclusion, the typical rotation period in a managed boreal forest (70-120 years), would not allow the forest to fully develop old growth characteristics that are so important to biodiversity.



The lichen, *Lobaria pulmonaria* or tree lungwort, growing on the trunk of a tree. Tree lungwort is an indicator of old growth forest as it requires the humidity and diffuse light characteristic of old growth forests. Arkhangelsk Region, NE Russia. (Copyright: Greenpeace/Evgeny Usov)

REGROWTH STAGES



20-30 YEARS: Young trees are established, and, in mixed woods, pioneer tree species (e.g. deciduous birch and aspen) cover the area.

100-150 YEARS:

The forest has a well-developed canopy. In mixed woods, pioneer tree species are now mature or dying. In both mixed woods and self-replacing conifer forests, late-successional conifers are beginning to grow in the gaps created by the death of this first cohort of trees. Old growth characteristics are beginning to develop: structural complexity is increasing and dead wood is accumulating.

UP TO 200-300 YEARS:

In the absence of further disturbance, the forest becomes structurally diverse with well-developed mosses, liverworts and ground lichens in the understory. Dead wood is abundant. The forest has recovered many of the original old growth characteristics.

007

 \odot

Fig. 2. Generalised illustration of the phases of boreal forest regrowth following disturbance. Adapted from Bartels et al. (2016)^[92] and Angelstam & Kuuluvainen. 2004^[93].

It takes considerably longer for an industrially logged forest to reach full maturity and recover old growth characteristics than is claimed by the logging industry. For example, an illustration (Fig 3) by a major Canadian logging company gives the impression that the forest is effectively grown back after only 20 years.^[94] This is far from the case.

> Fig. 3. Illustration of regrowth by a Canadian logging company gives the impression that the forest is fully regenerated after only 20 years. However, it takes considerable longer (up to 200-300 years) before the forest develops old growth characteristics and is considered fully regenerated. Source: Resolute Forest Products website; the section this graphic illustrates is titled "Our Forests Are 100% Regenerated".





Logging changes the tree composition of the forest. Once logged, old growth, coniferous forests typically regenerate with a higher abundance of deciduous trees. However, management practices, such as applying herbicides are used in parts of the boreal (e.g. Canada) to promote coniferous tree species. Arkhangelsk Region, NE Russia (Copyright: Greenpeace/Igor Podgorny)

Industrial logging can change the tree composition of some boreal forests, particularly mixed woods, favouring pioneer species. Widespread changes in tree species composition have occurred in Canada as a result of industrial logging.^[96] Although the changes depend on the type of soils and local climate, a trend towards faster growing deciduous trees at the expense of conifers as a result of industrial logging was identified.^[97] In particular, aspen and balsam poplar have increased in abundance as these species are fast-growing and can regenerate via suckers sprouting from roots and stumps and widely dispersed seeds. In parallel, the abundance of several commercially important species, such as white pine, red pine and white spruce has decreased.^[98] Similarly, in Russia, economically valuable coniferous forests generally convert to deciduous forests after industrial logging.^[99]

Changes to tree species can affect the growth (or biomass productivity) of the Great Northern Forest. Several studies have found that a reduction in the diversity of tree species results in a reduction in forest productivity.^[100] In addition, old growth forests are considered natural reservoirs of genetic diversity as their gene pool is considered to be superior to younger or managed stands, and the older trees produce more viable seeds.^[101] Therefore, maintaining the natural tree composition in old growth forests is vital for the health and productivity of the Great Northern Forest.

"The ongoing [tree] species loss in forest ecosystems worldwide could substantially reduce forest productivity [or growth] and thereby forest carbon absorption rate to compromise the global forest carbon sink" - Liang et al. 2016^[102]

INDUSTRIAL LOGGING, FRAGMENTATION AND FIRE

Industrial logging fragments a forest. In the Great Northern Forest, fragmentation is sometimes regarded as ephemeral as the trees regrow. However, industrial logging creates fragments of old growth within a matrix of younger forest.^[103] This can affect wildlife, especially old growth specialists by forming barriers to movement and isolating species in old growth forest 'islands' (see "What does industrial logging mean for wildlife?"). Fragmentation of old growth forests is an important impact of industrial logging because over 40% of the global area of Intact Forest Landscapes is in the boreal, predominantly in Canada and Russia.^[104] Once fragmented by industrial logging, the forest is no longer intact.

Fragmentation of the forest (even if temporary) by industrial logging, causes more of the forest being exposed to harmful 'edge' effects, e.g. reduced buffering against strong winds which can damage trees. ^[105] The edges produced by industrial logging are more abrupt and lack the complexity of those produced by natural disturbances (e.g. fire).^[106] This edge complexity is important for biodiversity as it provides habitat for certain wildlife species, prevents deposition of nutrients and pollutants and reduces the effects of wind.^[107]

Industrial logging, even selective logging, requires roads that fragment the forest. These form a network of mostly permanent alteration with no natural equivalent and are increasing in the boreal forest. It's estimated that there are 62,000 km of logging roads in Canada, with more road development planned.^[108] In Sweden, a very dense network of forest roads has resulted in 98% of all forest in south Sweden and 75% in north Sweden lying within 1 km of a road, with the development aim to increase the road network so the distance to a road is only 500 m.^[109] Although figures aren't available for the extent of logging roads in the boreal forests of Russia, it is set to increase with projected increases in logging.^[110]



Roads built for industrial logging fragment the Great Northern Forest, make previously inaccessible areas more accessible and are increasing throughout the boreal. Arkhangelsk region, NE Russia.

(Copyright: Greenpeace/Tatiana Khakimulina)

The building of roads allows access to previously inaccessible parts of the forests. This is likely to increase fire frequency, which generally increases near human activities^[111] (although fragmentation can also form fire breaks^[112]). For example, in Russia, human activities were found to be responsible for an estimated 87% of ignitions in fragmented boreal forest areas for the period 2002-2005^[113], with a similar finding by a more recent study^[114]. Similarly, a Canadian study also found that fire frequency increased in previously logged boreal forest because logging residues acted as fuel for lightning initiated fires.^[115] Conversely, in Sweden, the fire history of forests is complex, with active human management of fire resulting in alternating periods of fire suppression and prescribed burning since the early 1900s^[116]. As a result of fire suppression, in Sweden at least, the forest ecology is considered degraded.^[117]

Climate change (higher temperatures and/or lower rainfall, increased drought) is expected to increase the vulnerability of the boreal forest to fires.^[118] Effects of climate change are thought to be experienced already, with an increased length of fire season throughout the boreal^[119], particularly in Siberia, where the number and extent of fires has increased substantially^[120]. The combination of industrial logging, fragmentation and climate change poses a serious threat to much of The Great Northern Forest^[121].

"Fire has been the major disturbance process operating in boreal forests since the last Ice Age, mainly because human population density is relatively low in Boreal areas compared with most of the other biomes in the world. However, advancing timber harvest (logging) and other human encroachment has led to an increase in fire frequency in recent years, particularly in Siberia." – Bradshaw et al. 2009^[122]

WHAT DOES INDUSTRIAL LOGGING MEAN FOR WILDLIFE?

"Regeneration of an old growth forest often takes centuries and, for some endangered species, the consequences of the destruction of old growth forest may be irrevers*ible*^[123]" – Open letter to the EU Council by 190 scientists, September 2017^[124]

Old growth boreal forests contain many specialist species that depend on old growth characteristics and attain their highest densities in such forests.^[125] Industrial logging particularly affects these specialists. For example, 38% of all threatened or endangered (or 'red-listed') species in Finland, 46% in Norway and 51% in Sweden are forest species.^[126] Although industrial logging has had a much shorter history in Canada than in Scandinavia, it is considered that industrial logging in Canada's boreal forests has already incurred an "extinction debt" where species may be doomed to extinction in the future.^[127]

"About 50% of the [threatened or endangered] red-listed Fennoscandian species are threatened because of forestry...Although logging is considerably more recent in Canada than in Fennoscandia, already 12 out of 17 vulnerable, threatened or endangered forest-dwelling species of wild flora and fauna are considered susceptible to logging in the boreal shield region." Venier et al. 2014^[128]

PLANTS, LICHENS, FUNGI AND INVERTEBRATES

To understand how industrial logging impacts wildlife, it is helpful to start at the bottom of the food chain that underpins the majority of insect, bird and mammal life in the forest. The mosses, liverworts and lichens that are characteristic of old growth forests are generally destroyed by industrial logging and, because of their long recovery time, may not recover sufficiently before the next logging cycle. Many of these mosses, liverworts and lichens depend on the presence of dead wood, particularly large fallen logs, which are less abundant in managed forests.^[129] Many invertebrates, particularly beetles, also depend on dead and decaying wood.^[130] For example, in Sweden approximately 1,000 species of beetles depend on dead wood.^[131] The lack of dead wood in managed forests means these invertebrates are at risk of local extinction.^[132]

Lichen abundance can be two times higher in natural landscapes than in managed landscapes in Sweden.^[133] In Finland, tree lichens are absent in roughly 50% of the forests in a managed landscape, whilst present in the vast majority of forests in national parks in northern Finland.^[134] Lichen are vital winter food for woodland caribou and reindeer (see "Woodland (boreal) caribou: an indicator species")

"The changes in forest age structure in our study area [in Sweden] suggest a significant loss of arboreal [tree] lichen resources since the adoption of modern forest management in the mid-20th century." - Kivinen et al. 2012^[135]

Plants and lichen provide food, shelter and nest material for many animals, including mammals and birds.^[136] Studies show that the richness of plants, fungi and invertebrates is reduced by boreal forest management. For example, by 1997, in Finland, 27% of endangered invertebrates (202 species), and 53% of lichens and fungi (199 species) were considered threatened by forestry^[137] and in southwest Finland, where less than 0.5% of the original old growth forest is left, out of 100 beetle species, 73 have already gone extinct^[138]. Although industrial logging has existed for less time in Canada than Sweden and Finland, it is thought that similar deleterious effects on the richness of plants, lichen, fungi and invertebrates are inevitable.^[139]



BIRDS

"Old-forest specialists account for almost one-third of all birds breeding in older boreal forests in both Finland and Canada. It is these late-successional species that are most likely to be negatively affected by even-aged forest management regimes that truncate the forest age-class distributions" - Venier et al. 2014^[140]

Hundreds of bird species,^[141] including the Siberian jay, capercaillie, Siberian tit (or gray-headed chickadee), great gray owl, Boreal owl, and Canada warbler are either forest dwellers, or depend on the boreal for-est.^[142] The Great Northern Forest is a vital breeding ground for billions of birds each year. For example, each spring, between 1 and 3 billion birds begin making their way up to North America's boreal forest, some from as far away as southern South America, to find suitable habitat to breed and hatch their young.^[143] It's estimated that over half of all European bird species breed in the boreal,^[144] with over 300 species of birds breeding in the North American boreal^[145].

Many bird species, such as Siberian jay, Siberian tit, three-toed woodpecker, and great gray owl are old growth specialists.^[146] They depend on habitats in old growth forests for food and shelter. For example, they might nest in tree cavities or forage on insects that, in turn, feed on decaying wood, and some have a high preference for certain tree species.^[147] These birds are particularly affected by industrial logging, as this removes these old growth characteristics, and changes tree species composition. Birds dependent on old growth characteristics may be replaced by more generalist bird species in the regenerating forest. This means that whilst the overall abundance of birds may not be highly affected, the mix of bird species is altered, including reductions of the specialists that depend on old growth forests.^[148] For example, in Ontario, Canada, songbird communities differed between old growth and logged stands for up to 50 years, with half the old

growth bird species in the study still absent from the logged stands at this time.^[149] Birds that are old growth specialists are also affected by the fragmentation of old growth forests into smaller and increasingly separated patches. This is because suitable habitat becomes increasingly hard to find, and eventually outside the range that a resident bird species can reach, leading to their isolation in old growth fragments.^[150]



Both standing and fallen dead wood are an important habitat for insects and other invertebrates, which form the basis of the food chain in the Great Northern Forest. Arkhangelsk Region, NE Russia (Copyright: Greenpeace/Tatiana Khakimulina)

"Bird species of old growth boreal forests in Fennoscandia have steeply declined in numbers during the past 50 years most likely because of habitat loss and fragmentation by commercial harvesting." - Brotons et al. 2003^[151]

MAMMALS

A rich diversity of mammals, from caribou, moose, wolves, lynx and Siberian tiger to porcupines, flying squirrels, voles and martens are found in the Great Northern Forest.^[152]

Mammals, both large and small are affected by the reduced complexity of industrially-logged forests. In North America, industrial logging has been observed to reduce marten populations for about 40 years until sufficient forest regeneration had taken place.[153] Martens typically reach their highest abundance in old growth habitat and regenerating forest supports fewer martens.^[154] A study in Ontario, Canada found that, for red-backed voles, heather voles, red squirrels, northern flying squirrels, short-tailed shrews, and star-nosed moles, there was a reduction in suitable habitat in forests logged 50-60 years ago compared with those that had not been industrially-logged.[155] However, other small mammals such as masked shrews, deer mice and meadow voles and meadow jumping mice tended to increase, depending on forest regeneration. Altogether, the study found that habitats of 40% of bird and mammal species showed marked differences between unlogged forest and forest industrially logged 50-60 years ago, with more species better suited to unlogged forests.

The Siberian flying squirrel lives in the boreal forests of Eurasia, from Finland through Russia to Mongolia and north-eastern China. Its preferred habitat is old growth forest as it tends to nest in tree cavities.^[156] The species is in decline over much of its range due to loss of old growth forests caused by industrial logging.^[157] It is particularly affected by forest fragmentation as it lives predominantly in trees and is reluctant to cross open ground.^[158] This also means that populations living in fragments of old growth forest could become isolated from other populations of flying squirrel and lose genetic diversity, leading to an extinction risk in the forest fragment.^[159]

"The low estimates of population growth rates along with the overall, long-term decline of flying squirrels in Finland suggest that there is an urgent need to reconcile the conflicting ecological and economic goals in forestry in this country to ensure the persistence of the species. Although responses to habitat loss and fragmentation are species-specific, these results raise concern for other, less mobile boreal forest species facing the same problems of habitat isolation and destruction." - Lampila et al. 2009^[160]

Wolverines were at one time present throughout the entire boreal forest.^[161] They occur at low densities and have a very large home range (100 to 500 km² for males), which makes them vulnerable to forest fragmentation. Populations can become genetically isolated,^[162] and ultimately unviable through forest fragmentation. Wolverines avoid deciduous forest (which typically increases in abundance as the forest regenerates) and noise disturbances, although they do not totally avoid managed forests.^[163]

WOODLAND (BOREAL) CARIBOU: AN INDICATOR SPECIES

"Mounting evidence suggests that forest management (at least as currently practiced [in Canada]) and the maintenance of self-sustaining woodland caribou populations are not compatible." Professor Daniel Kneeshaw, Université du Québec à Montréal, 2017^[164]

Woodland caribou or reindeer act as a key indicator for the health of the forest and the other species that live there. In North America, they are called caribou and exist in the wild as solitary for much of the year, forming small groups in winter. In Russia, Norway, Sweden and Finland, they are called reindeer and are mainly in domesticated or semi-domesticated herds, although wild populations also exist.^[165] Woodland caribou require large areas of mature coniferous forest habitat to survive, with old growth open lichen woodlands and bogs being their preferred habitat.^[166] Their sensitivity to the impacts of industrial development serves as a warning that the overall health of the ecosystem is being significantly damaged. Under Canada's Species at Risk Act, woodland caribou are classed as a threatened species^[167] with the population decline projected to be greater than 30% in the near term.^[168] Some populations in Canada have disappeared while others are now listed as very unlikely to be self-sustaining^[169], prompting calls for the government to "set a clear and rapid pathway to effective protection and recovery of caribou across Canada"[170].



Large fallen tree with lichen in the old growth spruce forest, Arkhangelsk Region, NE Russia. Such trees provide surfaces for lichen to grow on. Lichen is a vital food for both European reindeer and North American caribou in winter. (Copyright: Greenpeace/Tatiana Khakimulina) The changes in forest structure and species composition caused by industrial logging (see How does industrial logging change the forest?) have a major effect on habitat suitability for caribou. In winter, caribou diet consists predominantly of lichens,^[171] in some cases up to 80%^[172]. Abundant lichen is an old growth characteristic, as lichens are principally found on older trees and on the ground in forest gaps. Reindeer (Northern Europe and Russia) and woodland caribou (North America) are particularly susceptible to habitat loss from industrial logging because it takes many decades for the forest to develop sufficiently to allow enough lichen growth to support them.^[173] This not only affects caribou and wild reindeer, but also domesticated reindeer, whose herders have to be able to access lichen rich forests.^[174]

"Circa 30–50% of the potentially good winter grazing grounds for reindeer [in the Swedish study area] has been lost because of intensive forest management during the 20th Century and furthermore the quality of the grazing grounds are considerably impaired." - Berg et al. 2008^[175]

Human disturbances, such as industrial logging roads and clearcuts,^[176] but also mining and gas infrastructure,^[177] destroy caribou habitat and also act as barriers to caribou and reindeer movement. In Canada, such disturbances are well documented to also make caribou more vulnerable to predators. If the old growth forest in the caribou's home range becomes a mosaic with patches of regenerating forest, the home range becomes shared with other animals, such as moose and deer, which are attracted by the abundant shrubs growing on clearcuts.^[178] This, in turn, attracts predators that mainly prey on moose and deer, such as black bears and wolves, but will also opportunistically prey on caribou, in particular their calves.^[179] This predator-prey interaction is an important impact of industrial logging on caribou, and negatively affects the survival of caribou populations in disturbed forests.[180]

While the areas harvested each year may appear small in an ecosystem as large as the Great Northern Forest, it is the constant erosion of old growth habitat, year after year, that jeopardises the survival of woodland caribou in these areas. Industrial logging is causing a large-scale shift in the age-class of trees towards young stands at the expense of old growth.^[181] A recent study projected that, under current rates of industrial logging and fire, the proportion of old forests in western Quebec would reach "a minimum level rarely seen in the natural landscape in the past".^[182]

Woodland caribou have already disappeared from approximately half of their historic range in North America,^[183] coincident with intensive resource exploitation^[184], including logging ^[185]. For this reason, caribou in Canada are sometimes called the "canary in a coal mine"^[186], reflecting the decline in health of the boreal forests in Canada.

In Canada, the federal government science suggests that woodland caribou have less than a 60% chance of being self-sustaining when disturbance (industrial logging and/or fire) exceeds 35% of their range^[187], and this disturbance threshold could be even less in many cases^[188]. There have been many recommendations for the conservation of large unfragmented areas of old growth forest in Canada to aid caribou survival.^[189] It is recommended that planning for caribou survival should be should be on a scale of 10,000-15,000 km².^[190] Such areas are not found in the regularly-disturbed patchwork landscape resulting from industrial rotational logging, highlighting the need for a network of large-scale protected areas.

"To maintain woodland caribou, therefore, the reserve network should contain multiple protected areas that are at least 10,000-20,000 km² (2.5-5 million acres) in size, ideally distributed across the species' range in order to maintain the species' natural distribution" Internationa Boreal Conservation Science Panel^[191]



WHAT ECOSYSTEM SERVICES ARE DISRUPTED BY INDUSTRIAL LOGGING?

"Beyond carbon storage, wetlands, peat ecosystems and boreal forests serve a multitude of important ecosystem functions including purification of water, creation of habitat and generation of a historically valuable resource." DeLuca & Boisvenue 2012^[192]

WATER QUALITY AND QUANTITY



Industrial logging activities can have negative impacts on watercourses. Here, the turbidity ('cloudiness') of a river in the Dvinsky Forest (Archangelsk, Russia) increased due to road construction. (Copyright: Greenpeace/Tatiana Khakimulina)

Boreal forests hold vast amounts of water in their streams, rivers, wetlands, peatlands and lakes. Much of this is considered clean and unpolluted.^[193] Industrial logging has major impacts on water systems, particularly from building road networks to access trees and transport logs to mills, which can interrupt water courses. The effects of industrial logging depend on a suite of variables including soil type, closeness of logging to a watercourse, slope and forest type. The removal of trees reduces evapotranspiration but, in Canada at least, does not appear to significantly affect the volume of water in watercourses.^[194] In contrast, as described below, industrial logging can impact water quality.

Forests naturally supply organic matter and nutrients

to streams.^[195] However, industrial logging can increase the temperature, flow and turbidity (cloudiness) of streams, and even rivers and lakes. It can also increase the release of nutrients (such as nitrogen and phosphorus) from soils, upsetting the delicate chemical balance of boreal water bodies,^[196] with implications to biodiversity as the type of plants change in response to increased nutrients. The increase in nutrients following industrial logging may be short-lived in the case of soluble nutrients (e.g. chloride, potassium, nitrate), but other, less soluble nutrients (e.g. calcium, magnesium) may show longer-term changes (over 3 years).^[197] Industrial logging near streams and rivers results in waters that are lacking shaded areas, raising water temperatures. ^[198] Shade from direct sunlight is important for aquatic organisms and industrial logging can increase the exposure of aquatic organisms to higher levels of damaging ultraviolet radiation from direct sunlight.[199] Whilst some of these effects may be short-term and localized, more research is needed on the possible long-term impacts of industrial logging on water quantity and quality at the local and also landscape scale. [200]

SOIL STRUCTURE AND NUTRIENTS

Logging can cause soil erosion^[201] and disturbs soil structure^[202]. Whilst soils disturbed by logging may release nutrients to waters, the overall nutrient content of soils may change little, as only a small portion of the soil's nutrients are affected. ^[203] Any changes in soil carbon and nutrients, such as nitrogen, phosphorus, magnesium, calcium and iron, from logging are highly variable and depend on, amongst other factors, soil type, tree species mix and the type of logging, with partial harvest reducing impacts compared to clearcut. ^[204] Soil becomes damaged due to compaction during logging. This can affect water run-off and hinder the growth of understory vegetation during recovery.^[205] Importantly, logging generally results in losses of soil carbon, which are described below in "How industrial logging worsens climate change".

"Logging disturbance in boreal forests can clearly alter biogeochemical processes in soils by changing forest composition, plant uptake rates, soil conditions, moisture and temperature regimes, soil microbial activity, and water fluxes." - Kreutzweiser et al. 2008^[206]

DOES INDUSTRIAL LOGGING HAVE THE SAME IMPACT AS NATURAL FOREST FIRES?

Fires are part of the natural dynamics of much of the Great Northern Forest. Fires differ in their severity, with destructive stand-replacing fires thought to be more common in North America than Fennoscandia. ^[207] However, even in North America, the role of stand replacing fires in producing uneven aged forest is considered to be over-estimated and the effects of gaps as forest mature, storms, and insects underestimated.^[208] Not all fires destroy all trees. Some fires may be of low intensity, allowing trees to survive, especially old Scots pine trees in the European boreal zone, which become less sensitive to fire as they age.^[209]

The impacts from industrial logging are substantially different to those from fire: industrial logging specifically targets mature and old forest areas, while fire affects forest of all ages, meaning some areas will escape fire and reach much greater ages than in a logging rotation. For example, in one particular boreal forest landscape in the North Shore region of eastern Quebec with a fire return interval of approximately 300 years, 78% of unmanaged forest consisted of old (>120 years old) stands whilst the managed forest area consisted of only 28% old stands.^[210] Similarly, it is estimated that, in the absence of industrial logging, forests over 100 years old (i.e. 100 years since fire) should cover an average of 49% of the boreal landscape in Canada, those over 200 years, 27% and those over 300 years, 16%.[211] In contrast, a forest that is harvested on a 100-year cycle will have an average age of 50 years and no stands older than 100 years. In summary, industrial logging is far more efficient and uniform in affecting the older tree stands than fires.

"Low-frequency fire landscapes are naturally dominated by a matrix of old growth forests interspersed with irregularly shaped patches of younger forests originating from fire or other intense disturbances. In comparison, managed landscapes under an even-aged regime are typically composed of a higher proportion of young stands, are more fragmented, have a greater amount of edges and smaller, simpler and more isolated patches of old growth forests." - Boucher et al. 2015^[212] Tree species composition may be altered in a forest recovering from industrial logging compared to fire. ^[213] Several conifer species, such as black spruce, will open their cones during a fire, seeding the burnt area, and becoming the dominant species. ^[214] With industrial logging, the regeneration is dominated by other trees, e.g. balsam fir in eastern Canadian boreal forests, because the seeding from fire-released tree seed (spruces and pines) is absent.^[215]

The structure of the regenerating forest following industrial logging and fire differs. The edges produced by industrial logging are more abrupt and lack the complexity that is important for biodiversity.^[216] After a fire, dead wood is abundant with snags and standing burnt trees. These provide food sources and habitat for invertebrates and hence birds and mammals. However, after industrial logging, dead wood and snags tend to be absent and the ground cover is dominated by grass and shrubs.^[217] In Canada, this lack of dead and burnt wood was found to change the composition of bird species for at least 20 years, away from those that use burnt areas, such as the keystone woodpecker species, towards those that favour more unforested, open country.^[218] In Sweden^[219], fire is considered important for tree regeneration, as over-dominance of certain understory species (e.g. black crowberry) inhibit seedling establishment. In addition, logging does not produce charcoal, which assists establishment of certain tree species. Logging and soil preparation are considered to not provide the same ecological benefits as fire. [220]

Moreover, losses of old growth forest from industrial logging is, in many cases, additional to forest losses from fires^[221], meaning the overall forest disturbance increases, a principle well reflected by the Canadian Government's Woodland Caribou Recovery Plan.^[222] In the managed forests of Quebec, Canada, a study found that industrial logging had increased the annual rate of disturbance by 74% above the natural disturbance regime.^[223]

HOW INDUSTRIAL LOGGING WORSENS CLIMATE CHANGE

'The evidence is that Canadian boreal logging is actually making the climate change problem worse. Given the importance of drastically reducing greenhouse gas emissions as soon as possible in order to avoid catastrophic climate change, to my mind it is a much better climate change strategy to leave as much carbon as possible stored in the existing primary forest.' – Professor Jay Malcolm, University of Toronto, 2017^[224]

The trees and soils of the Great Northern Forest, which include peatlands and areas of permafrost, are the single largest carbon store on Earth's land surface. ^[225] Although carbon is taken up during tree regrowth, logging reduces carbon storage in the forest ecosystem by removing trees (which store carbon in their wood) and causing erosion and losses of soil carbon to the atmosphere.

The Great Northern Forest is currently accumulating carbon overall^[226], although this sink is at risk in the future with climatic changes^[227]. Conversely, modelling of historical forest management across Europe, including Norway, Sweden and Finland, shows that, overall, European forests have released more carbon to the atmosphere than they have taken up over the past 250 years.^[228] One key factor leading to this release of carbon from forests is the increased proportion of forests under human management. This is because the removal of wood from the forest releases carbon that would otherwise be stored within trees, leaf litter, and also dead wood and soil as the tree dies and decays.

"In Europe, two and a half centuries of land-use change increased the forest area by 10% and has put over 85% of the forests under management, but it has failed to result in net CO_2 removal from the atmosphere, because wood extraction released carbon otherwise stored in the biomass, litter, dead wood, and soil carbon pools." – Naudts et al. $2016^{[229]}$

Managed forest in Canada is also considered to be taking up carbon.^[230] However, it has not yet been possible to estimate carbon uptake in unmanaged forests in Canada^[231] so the difference in carbon uptake and storage between a regularly industrially logged forest and a natural, unlogged forest (dominated by natural disturbance processes) cannot be assessed. Nevertheless, it is evident that industrial logging has reduced, and is still reducing, the age of trees in the Great Northern Forest. ^[232] For example, since the introduction of modern, intensive forest management practices in the 1950s in Sweden, large areas of old growth forest have been industrially logged^[233], resulting in over 60% of Sweden's remaining forest under 60 years old. Similarly, a recent study projected that, under current rates of industrial logging and fire, the proportion of old forests in western Quebec would reach "a minimum level rarely seen in the natural landscape in the past".^[234] The carbon contained in the Great Northern Forest is likely to be reduced as a result of this large-scale reduction in tree age.

A recent analysis considered industrial logging across Canada's boreal forest to be a major source of carbon dioxide emissions. Rates of industrial logging were found to be outpacing the recovery of carbon in the forest. That is, carbon dioxide emissions associated with clearcutting Canada's boreal forest are currently greater than the carbon dioxide absorbed by areas that were industrially logged in the past and are in the process of regenerating. The analysis estimated that this causes, on average, the release of more than 26 million tonnes (Mt) of carbon dioxide a year (calculated to be equivalent to nearly 5.5 million passenger vehicles).^[235]

SOIL CARBON

Boreal forests contain a large proportion (approx. 95%^[236]) of ecosystem carbon in their soils. Therefore, even a small change in soil carbon can have considerable impacts on the total amount of carbon released to the atmosphere.^[237]

Different harvesting methods in different forest types

have different levels of impact, with clearcutting having a greater effect than selective logging.^[238] In general, soil carbon is reduced by industrial logging because when the trees are cut down, the ground warms as it receives more sunlight; this increases the activity of

microbes (bacteria and fungi) which break down organic matter in the soil and emit carbon dioxide to the atmosphere. At the same time, removal of vegetation means less new organic matter, such as dead leaves, entering the soil for microbes to feed on.^[239]

Once soil carbon has been lost, (re-) accumulation of stable soil carbon takes place only slowly ^[240]. Studies differ in their findings. One study in Canada found that the soil carbon had recovered 10 years after logging^[241], whilst another study, also in Canada, identified soils as sources of carbon to the atmosphere for over 20 years following harvest^[242]. Soil is one of the least well understood carbon pools of the boreal forest ecosystem and more research is needed to better assess soil carbon changes during harvesting.^[243]

Doesn't industrial logging increase carbon uptake?

"Increasing harvest levels have a negative impact on the climate because the standing forest carbon stock is immediately reduced when harvested. It may take decades to centuries until the former level of the carbon stock is restored by regrowth – especially if old growth forests are clearcut" – Open letter to the EU Council by 190 scientists, September 2017^[244]

It used to be thought that only young trees took up carbon as they increased in size. However, it has now been shown (including for boreal forests) that old growth forests continue taking up carbon^[245] for up to several centuries, well beyond the point at which they reach commercial maturity. In the Great Northern Forest, although the carbon uptake into living trees slows, carbon is thought to still be accumulated into the soil^[246], contributing to old growth boreal forest ecosystems not only being a major carbon store, but in addition a small carbon sink.^[247] However, one study found a decrease in carbon stocks, as the forest reaches the old growth stage, thought to be associated with the death of the first cohort of trees (Fig. 2).^[248] Nevertheless, it is evident that old growth forests are not only important in terms of carbon storage, but also in terms of carbon uptake. This means that, rather than industrial logging and regrowth being carbon neutral over a typical industrial logging cycle (approximately 100 years), more carbon is stored in the trees if they are not logged, as can be seen in Fig. U.^[249] In general, models that consider industrial logging followed by regrowth as carbon neutral do not take the accumulation of carbon by mature trees into account.^[250]



Fig. 4 Differences in carbon storage between an unlogged and regularly logged forest area from an initial state of post-disturbance. Changes in carbon stored in the regularly (approx. 100 years) logged scenario is shown in red, whilst that in the unlogged scenario is in blue. The cyclical nature of industrial logging and regrowth does not allow as much carbon to be stored as the unlogged scenario, which matures to old growth. An absence of natural disturbance (e.g. fire) is assumed in both scenarios. Adapted from Holtsmark 2012^[251] and Keith et al. 2014^[252].

"Old growth forests are usually carbon sinks. Because old growth forests steadily accumulate carbon for centuries, they contain vast quantities of it. They will lose much of this carbon to the atmosphere if they are disturbed, so carbon-accounting rules for forests should give credit for leaving old growth forest intact." – Luyssaert et al. 2008^[253].

Don't young trees replace forest carbon as the forest regrows?

Some early models predicted that industrial logging can be carbon neutral, but this is questionable for boreal forests as industrial logging reduces the overall age of the forest in a landscape^[254], and the time for regrowth is so long^[255]. It takes 70-120 years before a stand of trees in the boreal forest is commercially mature and harvested again.^[256] Industrial logging, therefore, incurs a "carbon debt" as the large stocks of carbon in the original forest ecosystem are replaced by the smaller carbon stocks of the growing managed forest.^[257] Gradually, this debt can be paid off provided that the use of wood products results in a net removal of carbon from the atmosphere.^[258] Unfortunately, however, this period of debt repayment is estimated to be 100 years or more, even under the assumptions that wood resources are devoted entirely to replacing the use of fossil fuels, e.g. coal^[259]. This time lag is important as it is vital that emissions of greenhouse gases (such as carbon dioxide) are reduced immediately, rather than emitting further greenhouse gases and expecting them to be sequestered by forest regrowth over the next century.^[260]

As discussed in "Does logging have the same impact as natural forest fires?", fire is an important natural driver of the Great Northern Forest ecosystem but industrial logging is, in most cases, additional to fires. Although fire may result in similar carbon losses to industrial logging, and can be over large areas, fire frequency and intensity is variable, whilst industrial logging is systematic.^[261] Therefore, with fire, some stands will escape fire and reach much greater ages than in a logging rotation, eventually fully recover the carbon stored in the trees.

Large tracts of natural forest are also known to be more resilient to climate change than second-growth and degraded forests.^[262] Measures that protect natural forest, therefore, not only preserve the forest that is of high conservation value, but also safeguard the forest that is likeliest to remain healthy and thus to continue storing globally significant amounts of carbon in the long term.

Many studies^[263] have concluded there is an urgent need to preserve (and in some cases restore) large areas of the Great Northern Forest to increase its resilience to climate change, protect the carbon stores within the trees, soils, peats and permafrost, and to maintain biodiversity, in particular to maintain predator-prey relationships. Such areas can coexist with responsibly logged areas of managed forests.

Isn't carbon stored in wood products?

Only forest carbon stocks provide the additional benefit of protecting biodiversity on this planet. Harvested wood products do not. Nonetheless, wood is a valued material that has been used by humans for millennia. For example, wood is traditionally used as fuelwood, although there is concern that modern, large-scale use of biomass from forests is unsustainable.^[264] Wood products are durable and have many advantages over synthetic materials such as plastic and cement. They are used for many purposes, for example in house construction. However, many products from industrial logging are only used for a short amount of time, e.g. paper and tissue. Wood products do store carbon from forests, but this fact tells us little about how much is being stored and for how long.

Many models indicating that industrial logging and regrowth in the boreal forest has an equal or better carbon balance compared to an unlogged forest consider the carbon stored in wood products.^[265] However, to act as significant carbon stores, the wood products must last a long time. International guidelines, adopted by the United Nations, on how harvested wood products can be used in national carbon accounts have been devised.^[266] These suggest specific half-lives for the main forest product categories (i.e. the number of years it takes before one-half of the material has emitted its stored carbon again) (Table 1). The half-life of paper is very short at only 2 years, and even the half-life of sawn wood (that would be used in buildings or furniture) is of the order of a few decades: half, or less than half, the length of a typical rotation cycle for industrial logging of 70-120 years. Some studies consider further carbon storage by wood products in landfill sites at the end of their lifetime.^[267] Carbon storage in landfill is likely to be highly variable depending on management of the site, and some, at least, will decompose to produce carbon dioxide and – even worse – methane^[268], a gas with much stronger climate impact compared to carbon dioxide^[269]. Furthermore, many countries, particularly in Europe, are increasingly using incineration to dispose of waste rather than landfill and incineration results in this carbon being released to the atmosphere immediately.[270]

Wood from an industrially-logged forest is used for a variety of purposes: fuelwood, pulp and paper, and sawn wood that may be used for building construction or for other solid wood products, such as furniture. The relative proportions of the final uses for harvested wood from Sweden, Finland and Canada (Table 1) show that a high proportion from boreal forests is used for short-lifespan products such as fuelwood or other energy production, newsprint and tissue, which are consumed quickly and do not store carbon long term. In both Sweden and Finland, the majority of the harvested wood is used for pulp (mainly for paper products) with a very short half-life of 2 years, whilst in Canada there is a higher proportion used as fuelwood/other energy production (Table 1). In Sweden and Canada, approximately a third goes to wood products with a half-life of 35 years, and in Finland it is closer to a guarter. In the three boreal countries shown, the largest use of harvested wood is for products with a short lifespan: fuelwood/energy production or pulp and paper.

Figure 5 shows the typical carbon flows following harvest in Sweden and Finland. Approximately 25-30% of the biomass is the residue of branches and needles in the crown and also the stump that are not extracted as timber by industrial logging.^[275] These areeither left in the forest (for example, Finnish forest management recommendations are that 30% are left in the forest), or are used for the production of bioenergy.^[276] Using the data in Table 1 for Sweden and Finland, analysis

CARBON FLOWS FOLLOWING TREE HARVESTING IN FINLAND AND SWEDEN



shows that less than 4% of the original carbon extracted from the forest remains stored in wood products after 100 years, with the rest released to the atmosphere. For the approximately 60% of harvested wood used for pulp and paper, most of the carbon (75%) in the harvested wood is released back into the atmosphere over a time scale of only four years (Fig. 5). Therefore, the majority of carbon from industrial logging in a boreal forest is not stored in long-lived wood products, but released to the atmosphere where it can contribute to climate change. Fig. 5. Carbon flows following tree harvesting in Sweden and Finland. Data from Table 1, with the relative proportions of forestry products averaged between Finland and Sweden. 25-30% logging residues are assumed, after Liu & Westman (2009). ^[277]

Table 1 Uses of harvested wood in Sweden, Finland andCanada with associated IPCC default half-lives.

	Half-lifeª (Years)	Sweden ^b	Finland ^c	Canada ^d
Fuelwood/other energy production	0	8%	12%	29%
Pulp (for paper)	2	58 %	60 %	25 %
Wood panels	25	0	0	11%
Solid Wood Products	35	34 %	27 %	35 %

Notes: a) Default value half-lives from IPCC guidelines^[271]. IPCC guidelines consider biomass for bioenergy to be burnt within the year and the carbon not stored. b) Skogsindustrierna 2015^[272] c) Finnish Forest Industries 2015^[273] d) Chen et al. 2013^[274]

LARGE SCALE PROBLEMS NEED LARGE SCALE SOLUTIONS

The scale of the problem is large scale, but not unsolvable. A recent Canadian study projected that the proportion of old forests in western Quebec would reach "a minimum level rarely seen in the natural landscape in the past" and "the situation could become even more critical with the projected increases of fire with climate change". ^[278] The boreal forest in Russia lost over 4% of its intact forest landscape in just 13 years (2000-2013).^[279]

Since the introduction of modern, intensive forest management practices in the 1950s, in Sweden's portion of the Great Northern Forest, large areas of old growth forest have been industrially logged and the wider forest landscape fragmented.^[280] This has led to population declines in hundreds of forest species,^[281] with industrial logging currently believed to be having significant negative impacts on over 1,300 red-listed (threatened or near-threatened) plants, animals, fungi and lichens. ^[282] With over 60% of Sweden's remaining forest under 60 years old^[283] and therefore not mature enough to be harvested,^[284] there is intense timber industry pressure on the remaining areas of older forest.

There is an urgent need to protect the remaining old growth of the Great Northern Forest, to protect intact landscapes (predominantly in Canada and Russia) and to restore and enlarge existing fragments (predominantly in Northern Europe) by allowing mature forests to reach old growth stage.

Greenpeace is not alone in calling for increased protection. One hundred and ninety EU and US scientists recently wrote to the EU Council demanding that 'all remaining old growth and high conservation value forests need to be protected to safeguard biodiversity and carbon stocks'.^[285] Similarly, the International Boreal Conservation Science Panel has called for a network of large protected areas with no less than 50% of a region protected from development in Canada, in accordance with Free Prior and Informed Consent of Indigenous Peoples. ^[286] Large protected areas can coexist with a thriving, responsible logging industry outside these areas.

CONCLUSION

"A forest consists of more than its trees. For example, if an original natural forest with its myriad wildlife plant and animal species is replaced by a forest with only a fraction of those species, then it is reasonable to my mind to say that the forest in its original condition has been destroyed." – Professor Jay Malcolm, University of Toronto, 2017^[287]

All old growth boreal forest systems are of High Conservation Value. They are complex ecosystems with an abundance of old large trees and dead wood providing habitat for a wealth of species, from birds that nest in the cavities of dead trees, to a host of specialist insects, lichens and fungi. The Great Northern Forest is also home to several hundred Indigenous communities who have governed and stewarded their lands and waters since time immemorial.

Contrary to common myths, industrial logging fundamentally damages old growth forests, destroying the results of centuries of complex natural interactions, carving old growth forests up into ever smaller fragment. Furthermore regular industrial logging prevents the recovering forest from reaching its pre-existing maturity. Many elements of the original forest do recover over time, but many only over time spans of up to 200 years or more, which far exceeds industrial logging cycles of 70-120 years, and some elements may not recover at all. Characteristics of old growth forests such as structural complexity, abundant dead wood, the abundance and diversity of lichens and presence of specialist species and can be destroyed for generations. Industrial activities, such as logging, could cause species such as the woodland caribou in Canada to be driven out and never return to their original habitat. The forestry industry wants consumers to believe that boreal forests are entirely renewable over a short time frame, but this is far from being the case.

The trees and soils of the Great Northern Forest, which include peatlands and areas of permafrost, are

the single largest carbon store on Earth's land surface. Although carbon is taken up during tree regrowth, industrial logging reduces carbon storage in the forest ecosystem by removing trees (which store carbon in their wood) and causing erosion and losses of soil carbon . The main uses of wood from many boreal forests are short-lived products, such as fuelwood and paper, which release most of their carbon back to the atmosphere over only a few years. Managed forests do not store the same amount of carbon as unlogged forests, which continue to take up carbon for centuries. Old growth forest ecosystems are important in terms of both carbon storage and carbon uptake. They are a strong ally in our fight against climate change.

This review has shown how there are substantial differences between a managed boreal forest and an old growth boreal forest. Whilst managed forests provide a useful and vital resource – that of timber production, they do not support the full complement of wildlife, carbon storage and ecosystem services provided by old growth forest. There is an urgent need to protect the remaining old growth of the Great Northern Forest, to protect intact landscapes (predominantly in Canada and Russia) and restore and enlarge existing fragments (predominantly in Northern Europe) by allowing mature forests to reach old growth stage.

Greenpeace's ambition for the Great Northern Forest is a diverse and resilient forest with more and larger protected areas. Governments must increase the protection of High Conservation Value forests, including Intact Forest Landscapes, from industrial logging and other destructive activities. Furthermore Greenpeace strongly advocates for the restoration of 500 million hectares of native forests globally by 2030. This exceeds the restoration targets of the CBD Aichi target 15 and the New York Declaration of Forests . Saving the Great Northern Forest - the green crown of the Earth is critical for the future of our planet.

GLOSSARY

BASAL AREA: the area of a given section of land that is occupied by the cross-section of tree trunks and stems at the base.

BOREAL: one of the three main forest zones in the world located in northern regions, characterised by the predominance of conifers.

CANOPY: cover of branches and leaves formed collectively by the crowns of adjacent trees.

DISTURBANCE: significant change in the structure or composition of ecosystems, species communities, or populations through natural or human-induced events such as industrial logging, fire, or mining. When a forest is referred to as 'undisturbed', this excludes minor small scale alterations in that may have been carried out by groups such as Indigenous Peoples.

FENNOSCANDIA: also known as Fenno-Scandinavia, or the Fennoscandian Peninsula, is the geographical region including Finland, Norway and Sweden, as well as Murmansk Oblast, much of the Republic of Karelia, and parts of northern Leningrad Oblast in Russia.

FIREBREAK: a break in the vegetation that prevents or slows the spread of a fire.

HCV: High Conservation Value - see box for description.

INDIGENOUS CULTURAL LANDSCAPES (ICLS):

These are "living landscapes to which Indigenous Peoples attribute social, cultural, and economic value because of their enduring relationship with the land, water, fauna, flora and spirits, and their present and future importance to their cultural identity. An ICL is characterized by features that have been maintained through long-term interactions with the landscape based on land-care knowledge, and adaptive livelihood practices. They are landscapes over which Indigenous peoples exercise responsibility for stewardship."^[288]

IFL: intact forest landscape; unbroken expanses of natural habitat (both forest and non-forested) within the current forest zone. These areas need to show no signs of significant human disturbance and to be large enough that all native biodiversity can be maintained, including viable populations of wide-ranging species – in practice they are defined as larger than 50,000

hectares (500 km²). IFLs include natural disturbances, such as fire, with a decision rule is applied to forest fires to delimitate between natural and human-made fires areas.^[289] 'Disturbed' areas include settlements, roads and areas visibly affected by industrial logging, agriculture or other activities, e.g. mining.^[290]

KEYSTONE SPECIES: A species whose existence is essential to the integrity of the ecological community. If lost, it causes a disproportionate effect on other species^[291]. For example, if the three-toed woodpecker were to be lost from boreal forests, it would adversely impact other bird and mammal species who use the tree cavities excavated by the woodpecker as nest sites^[292].

MANAGED FOREST: this term is generally used in scientific literature to indicate a forest subject to cyclical industrial logging. However, in Canada, the government uses 'managed forest' to describe all forests allocated by the government to the logging industry, much of which has not yet been logged. In this document, we use the first meaning. See page 10 for further detail.

OLD GROWTH: used in this report to be equivalent to primary forest (see Primary Forest).

PRIMARY FOREST: defined by the UN FAO^[293] as forests of native species, in which there are no clear indications of human activity and ecological processes are not significantly disturbed. Used in this report to be equivalent to old growth forest.

SNAGS: standing dead trees or branches held above the ground

STAND: a group of trees of similar species composition and age structure or growth, either naturally occurring or as a result of logging.

Succession: changes in species composition in an ecosystem over time, often in a predictable order

UNDERSTOREY: the lower level of vegetation in a forest. Includes shrubs, herbaceous plants, ground vegetation such as mosses, and smaller trees.

WOODLAND CARIBOU: in this report, the term 'woodland caribou' generally refers to the boreal population of *Rangifer tarandus caribou*

REFERENCES

- [1] 30%, Keenan et al. 2015, Table 1; 26%, Hansen et al. 2010.
- [2] Morales-Hidalgo et al. 2015, Fig. 6.
- [3] The term "old-growth" is used in this report to be equivalent to primary forest (see Glossary).
 "Old growth forest system" includes both old growth and new growth resulting from natural disturbances (e.g. fires).
- [4] 43.8% of the global area of Intact Forest Landscapes is in the boreal biome, Potapov et al. 2008. See also IFL Mapping Team, 2017.
- [5] Potapov et al. 2008.
- [6] Under the UN FAO definition of forest, the minimum size of a fragment would be 0.5 ha, UN FAO 2012a.
- [7] UN FAO 2012a.
- [8] Greenpeace USA 2017. The term "First Nations" refers to the culturally diverse and geographically widespread Indigenous Peoples in Canada who are neither Métis nor Inuit. There are over 900,000 First Nations persons in Canada, Government of Canada 2014.
- [9] Forest Stewardship Council Canada 2016.
- [10] The term "Indigenous Cultural Landscapes" (ICLs) refers to "living landscapes to which Indigenous peoples attribute social, cultural, and economic value because of their enduring relationship with the land, water, fauna, flora and spirits, and their present and future importance to their cultural identity. An ICL is characterized by features that have been maintained through long-term interactions with the landscape

based on land-care knowledge, and adaptive livelihood practices. They are landscapes over which Indigenous peoples exercise responsibility for stewardship." Definition adopted by Forest Stewardship Council Canada 2016.

- [11] Gunn 2016.
- [12] Lakehead University 2014a.
- [13] Bergeron & Fenton 2012; Boudreault et al. 2002. Esseen et al. 1997.
- [14] Gauthier et al. 2015.
- [15] Bradshaw & Warkentin 2015.
- [16] Bradshaw & Warkentin 2015.
- [17] Yale University 2018.
- [18] Cyr et al. 2009; Esseen et al. 1997.
- [19] Balshi et al. 2007.
- [20] Gauthier et al. 2015.
- [21] Östlund et al. 1997; Lie et al. 2012; Kotilainen & Rytteri 2011.
- [22] Boucher et al. 2015.
- [23] Josephson et al. 2013.
- [24] Greenpeace Russia 07 Aug 2017.
- [25] Nordberg et al. 2013; Boucher et al. 2017.
- [26] The 'northern limit' of commercial forestry is recognised by the relevant provinces in Canada but is not a legally recognized form of

biodiversity protection, nor is it recognized by the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) as a protected area. The area above the 'northern limit' remains open to the mining industry, and to the construction of roads, electrical corridors and hydroelectric dams.

- [27] Lindahl et al. 2017; Kröger & Raitio 2017; Lakehead University 2014b; Lakehead University 2014c.
- [28] Data from various sources compiled in Gauthier et al. 2015. This publication considers a forest to be managed when it is included within a forest management plan for purposes such as conservation, fire protection, or wood production. A managed forest may not be accessible or may not yet have been subjected to active management activities.
- [29] Gauthier et al. 2015.
- [30] UN FAO 2012b.
- [31] Bradshaw et al. 2009; Gauthier et al. 2015.
- [32] Morales-Hidalgo et al. 2015, Table 1.
- [33] UN 2007.
- [34] See, for example, Lindahl et al. 2017; Kröger & Raitio 2017; Lakehead University 2014b; Lakehead University 2014c.
- [35] In 2015, 94.5% of the total harvest as clearcut. National Forestry Database, Canada 2017, Fig. 6.1e.
- [36] Lakehead University 2014b.
- [37] In Russia, clearcut blocks are up to 50 hectares, Greenpeace Russia April 10 2017. In Ontario, Canada, the average clearcut size for 2012-13 was 53 hectares, Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry 2014.
- [38] In Ontario, the largest clearcut was 2 078 hectares. Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry 2014.
- [39] Helin et al. 2016; Greenpeace Russia March 30 2016; Lämås et al. 2015; Fenton & Bergeron 2011; Esseen et al. 1997; Kuuluvainen 2009.
- [40] Kuuluvainen et al. 2012.
- [41] Helin et al. 2016; Parviainen & Västilä 2011; The Royal Swedish Academy of Agriculture and Forestry (KSLA) 2015; Living Forests Council (undated).
- [42] Lindenmayer et al. 2008. Greenpeace Russia

December 6 2016.

- [43] Gustafsson et al. 2012; Lämås et al. 2015.
- [44] Helin et al. 2016; Greenpeace Russia March 30 2016; Lämås et al. 2015; Fenton & Bergeron 2011.
- [45] Natural Resources Canada 2017.
- [46] Fenton & Bergeron 2011; Garet et al. 2012; Uhlig et al. 2001; Jönsson et al. 2009.
- [47] UN FAO 2012a.
- [48] Mosseler et al. 2003.
- [49] UN FAO 2012a.
- [50] Kneeshaw & Gauthier 2003.
- [51] Angelstam & Kuuluvainen 2004; Bartels et al. 2016.
- [52] Kneeshaw & Gauthier 2003; Jönsson et al. 2009.
- [53] Thompson et al. 2003a.
- [54] Bergeron & Fenton 2012; Angelstam & Kuuluvainen 2004.
- [55] Kneeshaw & Gauthier 2003; Thompson et al. 2003a.
- [56] Thompson et al. 2003a.
- [57] Kneeshaw & Gauthier 2003; Jönsson et al. 2009.
- [58] Bergeron & Fenton 2012; Boudreault et al. 2002; Esseen et al. 1997.
- [59] Mosseler et al. 2003.
- [60] Venier et al. 2014.
- [61] Cooke & Hannon 2011; Shar et al. 2016.
- [62] Briand et al. 2009; Hins et al. 2009; Kivinen et al. 2010.
- [63] Esseen et al. 1996.
- [64] Mosseler et al. 2003; European Commission 2009.
- [65] European Commission 2009.
- [66] HCV Resource Network 2018.
- [67] Cyr et al. 2009; Bouchard & Pothier 2011; Kuuluvainen 2009.

- [68] Ahlkrona et al., 2017; Östlund et al. 1997.
- [69] Sveaskog AB 2017.
- [70] Boucher et al. 2015.
- [71] Thompson et al. 2003b.
- [72] Venier et al. 2014.
- [73] Tikkanen et al. 2006; Esseen et al. 1997; Nappi et al. 2015.
- [74] The Royal Swedish Academy of Agriculture and Forestry (KSLA) 2015.
- [75] Thompson et al. 2003b.
- [76] Kuuluvainen 2009; Venier et al. 2014.
- [77] Engelmark et al. 2001.
- [78] Thompson et al. 2003b; McMullin et al. 2013.
- [79] Östlund et al. 1997.
- [80] McMullin et al. 2013.
- [81] UN FAO 2012a.
- [82] Kneeshaw & Gauthier 2003; Angelstam & Kuuluvainen 2004.
- [83] Kneeshaw & Gauthier 2003.
- [84] Kneeshaw & Gauthier 2003; Angelstam & Kuuluvainen 2004.
- [85] Fenton & Bergeron 2011; Jönsson et al. 2009; Bouchard & Pothier 2011.
- [86] Boucher et al. 2015.
- [87] Ignatenko & Tarasova 2017.
- [88] Imbeau et al. 2001; Esseen et al. 1996.
- [89] Kivinen et al. 2012.
- [90] Bouchard & Pothier 2011.
- [91] Jönsson et al. 2009.
- [92] Bartels et al. 2016.
- [93] Angelstam & Kuuluvainen 2004.
- [94] Resolute Forest Products 2018.
- [95] Resolute Forest Products 2018.
- [96] Venier et al. 2014.

- [97] Venier et al. 2014.
- [98] Venier et al. 2014.
- [99] Greenpeace Russia. April 10 2017.
- [100] Liang et al., 2016; Zhang et al. 2012; Paquette & Messier 2011.
- [101] Kneeshaw & Gauthier 2003; Mosseler et al. 2003.
- [102] Liang et al. 2016.
- [103] Boucher et al. 2015.
- [104] Potapov et al. 2008.
- [105] Harper et al. 2015.
- [106] Harper et al. 2015.
- [107] Esseen et al. 2016.
- [108] Wildlands League 2014.
- [109] Esseen et al. 1997.
- [110] UN FAO 2012b.
- [111] Mollicone et al. 2006; Achard et al. 2008; Boucher et al. 2014.
- [112] Senici et al. 2010.
- [113] Mollicone et al. 2006; Achard et al. 2008.
- [114] Vladimirova et al. 2017.
- [115] Krawchuk & Cumming 2009.
- [116] Östlund et al. 1997.
- [117] Nilsson & Wardle. 2005.
- [118] IPCC 2014a. Climate Change 2014. Ch. 4 and Technical Summary.
- [119] Flannigan et al. 2012.
- [120] Ponomarev et al. 2016; Greenpeace International 2016.
- [121] Gauthier et al. 2015.
- [122] Bradshaw et al. 2009.
- [123] EASAC 2017.
- [124] De Wever et al. 2017.
- [125] Tikkanen et al. 2006; Hanski 2000.

- [126] Imbeau et al. 2001.
- [127] Venier et al. 2014.
- [128] Imbeau et al. 2001.
- [129] Venier et al. 2014; Esseen et al. 1997.
- [130] Hanski 2000; Esseen et al. 1997.
- [131] Esseen et al. 1997.
- [132] Hanski 2000; Esseen et al. 1997.
- [133] Kivinen et al. 2012.
- [134] Kivinen et al. 2012.
- [135] Kivinen et al. 2012.
- [136] Esseen et al. 1997.
- [137] Imbeau et al. 2001.
- [138] Hanski 2000.
- [139] Venier et al. 2014; Imbeau et al. 2001.
- [140] Venier et al. 2014.
- [141] Wells & Blancher 2011.
- [142] Boreal Songbird Initiative 2015a; European Commission 2009.
- [143] Boreal Songbird Initiative 2015b.
- [144] European Commission 2009.
- [145] Wells & Blancher 2011.
- [146] Brotons et al. 2003.; Boreal Songbird Initiative 2015a; Nappi et al. 2015.
- [147] Brotons et al. 2003.
- [148] Imbeau et al. 2001.
- [149] Thompson et al. 2013.
- [150] St-Laurent et al. 2009; Brotons et al. 2003; Boreal Songbird Initiative 2015a.
- [151] Brotons et al. 2003.
- [152] Ruckstuhl et al. 2008; Venier et al. 2014; Esseen et al. 1997.
- [153] Venier et al. 2014.
- [154] Venier et al. 2014.

- [155] Malcolm et al. 2004.
- [156] Lampila et al. 2009.
- [157] Shar et al. 2016.
- [158] Lampila et al. 2009; Shar et al. 2016.
- [159] Lampila et al. 2009.
- [160] Lampila et al. 2009.
- [161] Abramov 2016.
- [162] Abramov 2016.
- [163] Venier et al. 2014.
- [164] Kneeshaw 2017.
- [165] Gunn 2016.
- [166] Lesmerises et al. 2013.
- [167] Environment Canada 2012.
- [168] Government of Canada 2015.
- [169] Environment Canada 2012.
- [170] Hebblewhite & Fortin 2017; see also Crichton et al. 2017.
- [171] Briand et al. 2009.
- [172] Kivinen et al. 2012.
- [173] Briand et al. 2009; Kivinen et al. 2010; Kivinen et al. 2012.
- [174] Berg et al. 2008; Kivinen et al. 2010.
- [175] Berg et al. 2008.
- [176] Faille et al. 2010; Kivinen et al. 2010.
- [177] Hebblewhite 2017.
- [178] Briand et al. 2009.
- [179] Courtois et al. 2007; Losier et al. 2015.
- [180] Faille 2010; Lesmerises et al. 2013.
- [181] Cyr 2009; Bouchard & Pothier D. 2011.
- [182] Bergeron et al. 2017.
- [183] Government of Canada 2015.
- [184] Hebblewhite 2017.

- [185] For reviews, see Festa-Bianchet et al. 2011; Environment Canada 2012; Venier et al. 2014.
- [186] Greenpeace USA 2017; WWF 2017.
- [187] Environment Canada. 2012
- [188] Rudolph et al. 2017.
- [189] Hins et al. 2009; Leblond et al. 2014; Lesmerises et al. 2013; Leclerc et al. 2012; Rudolph et al. 2012.
- [190] Badiou et al. 2011.
- [191] Badiou et al. 2013.
- [192] DeLuca & Boisvenue 2012.
- [193] Webster et al. 2015.
- [194] Webster et al. 2015.
- [195] Malouin 2013.
- [196] Webster et al. 2015.
- [197] Webster et al. 2015.
- [198] Wells et al. 2010.
- [199] Wells et al. 2010.
- [200] Webster et al. 2015.
- [201] Lal 2005.
- [202] Venier et al. 2014.
- [203] Kreutzweiser et al, 2008; Thiffault et al. 2011.
- [204] Kreutzweiser et al. 2008; Thiffault et al. 2011.
- [205] Venier et al. 2014.
- [206] Kreutzweiser et al. 2008.
- [207] Rolstad et al. 2017.
- [208] Bergeron & Fenton 2012; Kneeshaw & Gauthier 2003.
- [209] Angelstam & Kuuluvainen 2004.
- [210] Boucher et al. 2015.
- [211] Bergeron & Fenton 2012.
- [212] Boucher et al. 2015.
- [213] Boucher et al. 2015.

- [214] Bartels et al. 2016; Bouchard & Pothier 2011.
- [215] Bouchard & Pothier 2011.
- [216] Harper et al. 2015; Esseen et al. 2016.
- [217] Hannon & Drapeau 2005; Bouchard & Pothier 2011.
- [218] Hannon & Drapeau 2005.
- [219] Nilsson & Wardle 2005.
- [220] Nilsson & Wardle 2005.
- [221] Cyr et al. 2009; Bouchard & Pothier 2011.
- [222] Environment Canada. 2012.
- [223] Boucher et al, 2017.
- [224] Malcolm 2017.
- [225] Gauthier et al. 2015; Bradshaw & Warkentin 2015.
- [226] Pan et al. 2011.
- [227] Gauthier et al. 2015; Kurz et al. 2013.
- [228] Naudts et al. 2016.
- [229] Naudts et al. 2016.
- [230] Kurz et al. 2013.
- [231] Kurz et al. 2013.
- [232] Cyr et al. 2009; Bouchard & Pothier 2011; Kuuluvainen 2009.
- [233] Ahlkrona et al. 2017; Östlund et al. 1997.
- [234] Bergeron et al. 2017.
- [235] Natural Resources Defense Council 2017.
- [236] Bradshaw & Warkentin 2015.
- [237] Seedre et al. 2011.
- [238] Thiffault et al. 2011; Kurz et al. 2013.
- [239] Lal 2005.
- [240] Jandl et al. 2007.
- [241] Kishchuk et al. 2015.
- [242] Pennock & van Kessel 1997.
- [243] Kurz et al. 2013; Seedre et al. 2011.

- [244] De Wever et al. 2017.
- [245] Luyssaert et al. 2008; Lewis et al. 2009; Stephens et al. 2007.
- [246] Seedre et al. 2011.
- [247] Pukkala 2017; Soloway et al. 2017.
- [248] Taylor et al. 2014.
- [249] Holtsmark 2012; Holtsmark 2013a; Holtsmark 2013b; Holtsmark 2015; Holtsmark et al. 2012.
- [250] e.g. Gustavsson et al. 2017; Kurz et al. 2013.
- [251] Holtsmark 2012.
- [252] Keith et al. 2014.
- [253] Luyssaert et al. 2008.
- [254] Cyr et al. 2009; Bouchard & Pothier 2011.
- [255] Cherubini et al. 2011.
- [256] Holtsmark 2012.
- [257] Holtsmark, B. 2012.
- [258] Ter-Mikaelian et al. 2013.
- [259] Cherubini et al. 2011; Ter-Mikaelian et al. 2013.
- [260] Schulze et al. 2012.
- [261] Cyr et al. 2009; Kuuluvainen 2009.
- [262] Gauthier et al. 2015.
- [263] Bradshaw et al. 2009; Wells et al. 2014; Moen et al. 2014; Rompré et al. 2010.
- [264] Schulze et al. 2012.
- [265] E.g. Kurz et al. 2013; for a discussion, see Pukkala 2017.
- [266] IPCC 2014b.
- [267] E.g. Kurz et al. 2013; Chen et al. 2013.
- [268] Keith et al. 2014; Chen et al. 2013.
- [269] IPCC 2013, Ch. 8.
- [270] Seltenrich 2013.
- [271] IPCC 2014b
- [272] Skogs Industrierna 2016.

- [273] Finnish Forest Industries 2015.
- [274] Chen et al. 2013.
- [275] Liu & Westman 2009.
- [276] Peltola et al. 2011.
- [277] Liu & Westman 2009.
- [278] Bergeron et al. 2017.
- [279] Potapov et al. 2017.
- [280] Ahlkrona et al. 2017; Östlund et al. 1997.
- [281] Larsson 2011.
- [282] ArtDatabanken 2015.
- [283] Sveaskog AB 2017.
- [284] For example, SCA Skog uses a rotation period of 80–120 years in its operations in the north of Sweden, SGS 2016.
- [285] De Wever 2017.
- [286] Badiou et al. 2011.
- [287] Malcolm 2017.
- [288] Forest Stewardship Council Canada 2016.
- [289] Potapov et al. 2008.
- [290] IFL Mapping Team 2017
- [291] Bond 1994.
- [292] Bütler et al. 2004.
- [293] UN FAO 2012a.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abramov, A.V. 2016. Gulo gulo. The IUCN Red List of threatened species 2016: e.T9561A45198537. http://dx.doi. org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T9561A45198537.en. [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Achard, F., Eva, H.D., Mollicone, D. & Beuchle, R. 2008. The effect of climate anomalies and human ignition factor on wildfires in Russian boreal forests. Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society B 363: 2331–2339.
- Ahlkrona, E., Giljam, C. & Wennberg, S. 2017. Kartering av kontinuitetsskog i boreal region. Metria AB på uppdrag av Naturvårdsverket. https://www.naturvardsverket.se/upload/miljoarbete-i-samhallet/miljoarbete-i-sverige/regeringsuppdrag/2017/bilaga-3-kartering-av-kontinuitetsskog-boreal-region-20170117.pdf
- Angelstam P. & Kuuluvainen, T. 2004. Boreal forest disturbance regimes, successional dynamics and landscape structures a European perspective. Ecological Bulletins 51: 117–136.
- ArtDatabanken 2015. Rodlistade arter i Sverige 2015, ArtDatabanken Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Uppsala. www.artdatabanken.se/globalassets/ew/subw/artd/2.-var-verksamhet/publikationer/22.-rodlistan-2015/rodlistan_2015.pdf
- Badiou, P., Boutin, S., Carlson, M. et al. 2011. Keeping woodland caribou in the boreal forest: big challenge, immense opportunity. International Boreal Conservation Science Panel. http://www.borealscience.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/06/brief-woodlandcaribou.pdf
- Badiou, P., Baldwin, R., Carlson, M. et al. 2013. Conserving the world's last great forest is possible: here's how. International Boreal Conservation Science Panel. http://www.borealscience.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/conserving-last-great-forests1.pdf
- Balshi, M. S., McGuire, A. D., Zhuang, Q. et al. 2007. The role of historical fire disturbance in the carbon dynamics of the pan-boreal region: a process-based analysis. Journal of Geophysical Research 112: G02029, doi:10.1029/2006JG000380.
- Bartels, S.F., Chen, H.Y.H., Wulder, M.A. & White, J.C. 2016. Trends in post-disturbance recovery rates of Canada's forests following wildfire and harvest. Forest Ecology and Management 361: 194–207.
- Berg, A., Östlund, L., Moen, J. & Olofsson, J. 2008. A century of logging and forestry in a reindeer herding area in northern Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 256: 1009–1020.
- Bergeron, Y. & Fenton, N.J. 2012. Boreal forests of eastern Canada revisited: old growth, nonfire disturbances, forest succession, and biodiversity. Botany 90: 509–523.
- Bergeron, Y., Vijayakumar, D.B.I.P., Ouzennou, H., Raulier, F., Leduc, A. & Gauthier, S. 2017. Projections of future forest age class structure under the influence of fire and harvesting: implications for forest management in the boreal forest of eastern Canada. Forestry 90: 485–495.
- Bond W.J. 1994. Keystone species. In: Schulze E-D. & Mooney H.A. (eds.) Biodiversity and ecosystem function. Ch. 9, pp. 237-254. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Boreal Songbird Initiative 2015a. Comprehensive Guide to Boreal Birds. http://www.borealbirds.org/ comprehensive-boreal-bird-guide [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Boreal Songbird Initiative 2015b. What is a boreal bird? www.borealbirds.org/what-is-boreal-bird [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Bouchard, B. & Pothier, D. 2011. Long-term influence of fire and harvesting on boreal forest age structure and forest composition in eastern Québec. Forest Ecology and Management 261: 811–820.
- Boucher, Y., Grondin, P. & Auger, I. 2014. Land use history (1840–2005) and physiography as determinants of southern boreal forests. Landscape Ecology 29: 437–450.

Boucher, D. De Grandpre, L., Kneeshaw, D., St-Onge, B., Ruel, J.-C., Waldron, K. & Lussier, J.M. 2015. Effects of

80 years of forest management on landscape structure and pattern in the eastern Canadian boreal forest. Landscape Ecology 30: 1913–1929.

- Boucher, Y., Perrault-Hébert, M., Fournier, R., Drapeau, P. & Auger, I. 2017. Cumulative patterns of logging and fire (1940–2009): consequences on the structure of the eastern Canadian boreal forest. Landscape Ecology 32: 361–375.
- Boudreault, C., Bergeron, Y., Gauthier, S. & Drapeau, P. 2002. Bryophyte and lichen communities in mature to old growth stands in eastern boreal forests of Canada. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 32: 1080-1093.
- Bradshaw, C. & Warkentin, I.G. 2015. Global estimates of boreal forest carbon stocks and flux. Global and Planetary Change 128: 24-30.
- Bradshaw, C.A., Warkentin, I.G. & Sodhi, N.S. 2009. Urgent preservation of boreal carbon stocks and biodiversity. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 24: 541-548.
- Briand, Y., Ouellet, J.P., Dussault, C. & St-Laurent, M-H. 2009. Fine-scale habitat selection by female forest-dwelling caribou in managed boreal forest: Empirical evidence of a seasonal shift between foraging opportunities and antipredator strategies. Ecoscience 16: 1–11.
- Brotons, L., Mönkkönen, M., Huhta, E., Nikula, A. & Rajasärkkä, A. 2003. Effects of landscape structure and forest reserve location on old growth forest bird species in Northern Finland. Landscape Ecology 18: 377–393.
- Bütler, R., Angelstam, P., Ekelund, P. & Schlaepfer, R. 2004. Dead wood threshold values for the three-toed woodpecker presence in boreal and sub-Alpine forest. Biological Conservation 119: 305–318.
- Chen, J., Colombo, S.J. & Ter-Mikaelian, M.T. 2013. Carbon stocks and flows from harvest to disposal in harvested wood products from Ontario and Canada. Climate change research report CCRR-33, Science and Information Resources Division, Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources.
- Cherubini, F., Strømman, A.H. & Hertwich, E. 2011. Effects of boreal forest management practices on the climate impact of CO₂ emissions from bioenergy. Ecological Modelling 223: 59–66.
- Cooke, H.A. & Hannon, S.J. 2011. Do aggregated harvests with structural retention conserve the cavity web of old upland forest in the boreal plains? Forest Ecology and Management 261: 662–674.
- Courtois, R., Ouellet, J-P., Breton, L., Gingras, A. & Dussault, C., 2007. Effects of forest disturbance on density, space use and mortality of woodland caribou. Ecoscience 14: 491–498.
- Crichton, V. Fortin, D., Hebblewhite, M. et al. 2017. Response from scientists to claims made by the Forest Products Association of Canada regarding the scientific underpinnings of the federal Boreal Caribou Recovery Strategy. https://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/national/article36794694.ece/BINARY/scientists-letter-caribou.pdf
- Cyr, D., Gauthier, S., Bergeron, Y & Carcaillet, C. 2009. Forest management is driving the eastern North American boreal forest outside its natural range of variability. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 7: 519-524.
- DeLuca, T.H. & Boisvenue, C. 2012. Boreal forest soil carbon: distribution, function and modelling. Forestry 85: 161-184.
- De Wever, A., Karsenty, A., Salinas-Melgoza, A. et al. 2017. Scientific basis of EU climate policy on forests. Open letter to the EU Council. September 25. http://www.euractiv.com/section/energy/opinion/need-for-a-scientific-basis-of-eu-climate-policy-on-forests/ [Accessed March 16 2018]
- EASAC (European Academies' Science Advisory Council) 2017. Multi-functionality and sustainability in the European Union's forests. EASAC policy report 32. http://www.easac.eu/fileadmin/PDF_s/reports_ statements/Forests/EASAC_Forests_web_complete.pdf
- Engelmark, O., Sjöberg, K., Andersson, B. et al. 2001. Ecological effects and management aspects of an exotic tree species: the case of lodgepole pine in Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 141: 3–13.
- Environment Canada 2012. Recovery strategy for the woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*), boreal population, in Canada. Species at Risk Act Recovery Strategy series. Environment Canada, Ottawa http://

www.registrelep-sararegistry.gc.ca/virtual_sara/files/plans/rs_caribou_boreal_caribou_0912_e1.pdf

- Esseen, P-A., Renhorn, K.-E. & Pettersson, R.B. 1996. Epiphytic lichen biomass in managed and old growth boreal forests. Ecological Applications 6: 228-328.
- Esseen, P.A., Ehnström, B., Ericson, L. & Sjöberg, K. 1997. Boreal forests. In: Boreal ecosystems and landscapes: structures, processes and conservation of biodiversity. Ecological Bulletins 46: 16-47.
- Esseen, P-A, Ringvall, A, H., Harper, K.A., Christensen, P. & Svensson, J. 2016. Factors driving structure of natural and anthropogenic forest edges from temperate to boreal ecosystems. Journal of Vegetation Science 27: 482–492.
- European Commission 2009. Natura 2000 in the boreal region. Environment Directorate General http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/info/pubs/docs/biogeos/Boreal.pdf
- Faille, G., Dussault, C., Ouellet, J-P., Fortin, D., Courtois, R., St-Laurent, M-H. & Dussault, C. 2010. Range fidelity: the missing link between caribou decline and habitat alteration? Biological Conservation 143: 2840–2850.
- Fenton, N.J. & Bergeron, Y. 2011. Dynamic old growth forests? A case study of boreal black spruce forest bryophytes. Silva Fennica 45: 983–994.
- Festa-Bianchet, M., Ray, J.C., Boutin, S., Côté, S.D. & Gunn, A. 2011. Conservation of caribou (*Rangifer tarandus*) in Canada: an uncertain future. Canadian Journal of Zoology 89: 419–434.
- Finnish Forest Industries 2015. Wood flow from forest to mill in Finland 2015. https://www.forestindustries.fi/ statistics/roundwood-markets-and-forest-resources/45-Forest%20Resources%20and%20Wood%20 Raw%20Material/[Accessed March 16 2018]
- Flannigan, M., Cantin, A.S., de Groot, W.J., Wotton, M., Newbery, A. & Gowman, L.M. 2012. Global wildland fire season severity in the 21st century. Forest Ecology and Management. 294: 54-61.
- Forest Stewardship Council Canada 2016. Intact forest landscapes and indigenous cultural landscapes: working together to find a functional approach. https://ca.fsc.org/preview.ifl-icl-discussion-paper.a-1105.pdf
- Garet, J. Raulier, F., Pothier, D. & Cumming, S. 2012. Forest age class structures as indicators of sustainability in boreal forest: are we measuring them correctly? Ecological Indicators 23: 202-210.
- Gauthier, S., Bernier, P., Kuuluvainen, T., Shvidenko, A.Z. & Schepaschenko, D.G. 2015. Boreal forest health and global change, Science 349: 819-822.
- Government of Canada 2014. First Nations People in Canada. Indigenous and Northern Affairs. https://www.aadncaandc.gc.ca/eng/1303134042666/1303134337338 [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Government of Canada 2015. Response statement caribou, boreal population. Species at Risk Public Registry. December 23. http://www.registrelep-sararegistry.gc.ca/document/dspHTML_e.cfm?ocid=10490 [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Greenpeace International 2016. Wildfires in Russia: much worse than you could imagine. Blog, 3rd June. http:// www.greenpeace.org/international/en/news/Blogs/makingwaves/russia-forest-fires-sibera-climate-changenational-park/blog/56649/ [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Greenpeace Russia. Forest Forum of Greenpeace Russia. Russian forest news in English. http://www.forestforum.ru/ rss-eng.xml [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Greenpeace USA 2017. Clearcutting free speech http://www.greenpeace.org/usa/forests/boreal/clearcutting-freespeech/[Accessed March 16 2018]
- Gunn, A. 2016. Rangifer tarandus. The IUCN Red List of threatened species 2016: e.T29742A22167140. http://dx.doi. org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T29742A22167140.en [Accessed March 2018]
- Gustafsson, L., Baker, S.C., Bauhus, J. et al. 2012. Retention forestry to maintain multifunctional forests: a world perspective. BioScience 62: 633–645.

- Gustavsson, L., Haus, S., Lundblad, M., Lundström, A., Ortiz, C.A. & Sathre, R. 2017. Climate change effects of forestry and substitution of carbon-intensive materials and fossil fuels. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 67: 612–624.
- Hannon, S.J. & Drapeau, P. 2005. Bird responses to burning and logging in the boreal forest of Canada. Studies in Avian Biology 30: 97–115.
- Hansen, M.C., Stehman, S.V. & Potapov, P.V. 2010. Quantification of global gross forest cover loss. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107: 8650–8655.
- Hanski, I. 2000. Extinction debt and species credit in boreal forests: modelling the consequences of different approaches to biodiversity. Annales Zoologici Fennici 37: 271-280.
- Harper, K.A., Macdonald, S.E., Mayerhofer, M.S. et al. 2015. Edge influence on vegetation at natural and anthropogenic edges of boreal forests in Canada and Fennoscandia. Journal of Ecology 103: 550–562.
- HCV (High Conservation Values) Resource Network 2018. What are High Conservation Values? https://www. hcvnetwork.org/about-hcvf [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Hebblewhite, M. 2017. Billion dollar boreal woodland caribou and the biodiversity impacts of the global oil and gas industry. Biological Conservation 206: 102–111.
- Hebblewhite, M. & Fortin, D. 2017. Canada fails to protect its caribou. Letter to editor. Science 358: 730.
- Helin, T., Salminen, H., Hynynen, J., Soimakallio, S., Huuskonen, S. & Pingoud, K. 2016. Global warming potentials of stemwood used for energy and materials in Southern Finland: differentiation of impacts based on type of harvest and product lifetime. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 8: 334–345.
- Hins, C., Ouellet, J.P., Dussault, C. & St-Laurent, M-H. 2009. Habitat selection by forest-dwelling caribou in managed boreal forest of eastern Canada: evidence of a landscape configuration effect. Forest Ecology and Management 257: 636–643.
- Holtsmark, B. 2012. Harvesting in boreal forests and the biofuel carbon debt. Climatic Change 112: 415–428.
- Holtsmark, B. 2013a. The outcome is in the assumptions: analyzing the effects on atmospheric CO₂ levels of increased use of bioenergy from forest biomass. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 5: 467–473.
- Holtsmark, B. 2013b. Boreal forest management and its effect on atmospheric CO₂. Ecological Modelling 248: 130–134.
- Holtsmark, B. 2015. Quantifying the global warming potential of CO₂ emissions from wood fuels. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 7: 195–206.
- Holtsmark, B., Hoel, M. & Holtsmark, K. 2012. Optimal harvest age considering multiple carbon pools a comment. Journal of Forest Economics 19: 87–95.
- IFL (Intact Forest Landscapes) Mapping Team 2017. Intact forest landscapes. http://www.intactforests.org/index. html
- Ignatenko, R.V. & Tarasova, V.N. 2017. The population structure of the lichen Lobaria pulmonaria in the middle boreal forests depends on the time-since-disturbance. Folia Cryptogamica Estonica 54: 83–94.
- Imbeau, L., Monkkonen, M. & Desrochers, A. 2001. Long-term effects of forestry on birds of the Eastern Canadian boreal forests: a comparison with Fennoscandia. Conservation Biology 15: 1151-1162.
- IPCC 2013. Climate Change 2013: The physical science basis. Working Group I contribution to the IPCC 5th Assessment Report. Stocker, T.F., Qin, D., Plattner, G-K., Tignor, M., Allen, S.K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., Xia, Y., Bex V. & Midgley, P.M. (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/wg1/
- IPCC 2014a. Climate Change 2014. Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the IPCC 5th Assessment Report. Field, C.B., Barros, V.R., Dokken, D.J. et al. (eds.). Cambridge University Press,

Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. http://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/wg2/

- IPCC 2014b. 2013 Revised supplementary methods and good practice guidance arising from the Kyoto Protocol, Hiraishi, T., Krug, T., Tanabe, K., Srivastava, N., Baasansuren, J., Fukuda, M. & Troxler, T.G. (eds.) IPCC, Switzerland. http://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/kpsg/index.html
- Jandl, R., Lindner, M., Vesterdal, L., Bauwens, B., Baritz, R., Hagedorn, F., Johnson, D.W., Minkkinen, K. & Byrne, K.A. 2007. How strongly can forest management influence soil carbon sequestration? Geoderma 137: 253–268.
- Jönsson, M.T., Fraver, S. & Jonsson, B.G. 2009. Forest history and the development of old growth characteristics in fragmented boreal forests. Journal of Vegetation Science 20: 91–106.
- Josephson, P., Dronin, N., Mnatsakanian, R., Cherp, A., Efremenko, D. & Larin, V. 2013. An Environmental History of Russia. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, New York.
- Keenan, R.J., Reams, G.A., Achard, F., de Freitas, J.V., Grainger, A & Lindquist, E. 2015. Dynamics of global forest area: results from the UN Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) Global Forest Resources Assessment 2015. Forest Ecology and Management 352: 9–20.
- Keith, H., Lindenmayer, D., Mackey, B., Blair, D., Carter, L., McBurney, L., Okada, S. & Konishi-Nagano, T. 2014. Managing temperate forests for carbon storage: impacts of logging versus forest protection on carbon stocks. Ecosphere 5: 75 http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/ES14-00051.1.
- Kishchuk, B.E., Thiffault, E., Lorente, M., Quideau, S., Keddy, T. & Sidders, D. 2015. Decadal soil and stand response to fire, harvest, and salvage-logging disturbances in the western boreal mixedwood forest of Alberta, Canada. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 45: 141–152.
- Kivinen, S., Moen, J., Berg, A. & Eriksson, A. 2010. Effects of modern forest management on winter grazing resources for reindeer in Sweden. Ambio 39: 269–278.
- Kivinen, S., Berg, A., Moen, J., Oöstlund, L. & Olofsson, J. 2012. Forest fragmentation and landscape transformation in a reindeer husbandry area in Sweden. Environmental Management 49: 295–304.
- Kneeshaw, D. 2017. Affidavit in support of Greenpeace Motion to Strike, January 23, p.21. http://www.greenpeace. org/canada/Global/canada/report/2016/10/20170123-PACER-0098-4-Kneeshaw-Decl-Greenpeace-Defs-Reply-re-MTD-and-Mtn-to-Strike.pdf
- Kneeshaw, D. & Gauthier, S. 2003. Old growth in the boreal forest: a dynamic perspective at the stand and landscape level. Environmental Reviews 11: S99-S114.
- Kotilainen, J. & Rytteri, T. 2011. Transformation of forest policy regimes in Finland since the 19th century. Journal of Historical Geography 37: 429-439.
- Krawchuk, M.A. & Cumming S.G. 2009. Disturbance history affects lightning fire initiation in the mixed wood boreal forest: observations and simulations. Forest Ecology and Management 257: 1613–1622.
- Kreutzweiser, D.P., Hazlett, P.W. & Gunn, J.M. 2008. Logging impacts on the biogeochemistry of boreal forest soils and nutrient export to aquatic systems: a review. Environmental Reviews 16: 157–179.
- Kröger, M. & Raitio K. 2017. Finnish forest policy in the era of bioeconomy: a pathway to sustainability? Forest Policy and Economics 77: 6–15.
- Kurz, W.A., Shaw, C.H., Boisvenue, C., Stinson, G., Metsaranta, J., Leckie, D., Dyk, A., Smyth, C. & Neilson, E.T. 2013. Carbon in Canada's boreal forest—a synthesis. Environmental Reviews 21: 260-292.
- Kuuluvainen, T. 2009. Forest management and biodiversity conservation based on natural ecosystem dynamics in northern Europe: the complexity challenge. Ambio 38: 309-315.
- Kuuluvainen, T., Tahvonen, O. & Aakala, T. 2012. Even-aged and uneven-aged forest management in Boreal Fennoscandia: a review. Ambio 41: 720–737.

Lal, R. 2005. Forest soils and carbon sequestration. Forest Ecology and Management 220: 242–258.

- Lakehead University 2014a. World boreal forests: mammals. Faculty of Natural Resources Management. www. borealforest.org/world/mammals.htm [Accessed 16 March 2018]
- Lakehead University 2014b. World's boreal forests: management and sustainability. Forest management in Canada, Alaska, Finland, Norway, Sweden, Russia. Faculty of Natural Resources Management. http://www. borealforest.org/world/world_management.htm [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Lakehead University 2014c. World boreal science and innovation: harvesting methods & systems defined. Faculty of Natural Resources Management. http://www.borealforest.org/world/innova/harvesting.htm [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Lämås, T., Sandström, E., Jonzén, J., Olsson, H. & Gustafsson, L. 2015. Tree retention practices in boreal forests: what kind of future landscapes are we creating? Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 30: 526–53.
- Lampila, S., Wistbacka, R., Mäkelä, A. & Orell, M. 2009. Survival and population growth rate of the threatened siberian flying squirrel (*Pteromys volans*) in a fragmented forest landscape. Ecoscience 16: 66-74.
- Larsson, A. (red) 2011. Tillstandet i skogen rodlistade arter iett nordiskt perspektiv. ArtDatabanken Rapporterar 9, ArtDatabanken Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Uppsala. http://www.silvaskog.se/wpcontent/uploads/2016/02/Tillsta%CC%8Andet-i-skogen-rapport-SLU-2011.compressed.pdf
- Leblond, M., Dussault, C. & St-Laurent, M-H. 2014. Development and validation of an expert-based habitat suitability model to support boreal caribou conservation. Biological Conservation 177: 100–108.
- Leclerc, M., Dussault, C. & St-Laurent, M-H. 2012. Multiscale assessment of the impacts of roads and cutovers on calving site selection in woodland caribou. Forest Ecology and Management 286: 59–65.
- Lesmerises, R., Ouellet, J.P.O., Dussault, C. & St-Laurent, M-H. 2013. The influence of landscape matrix on isolated patch use by wide-ranging animals: conservation lessons for woodland caribou. Ecology and Evolution 3: 2880–2891.
- Lewis, S.L., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Sonke, B. et al. 2009. Increasing carbon storage in intact African tropical forests. Nature 457: 1003-1007.
- Liang J., Crowther, T.W, Picard, N. et al., 2016. Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship predominant in global forests. Science 354: aaf8957. Doi: 10.1126/science.aaf8957.
- Lie, M.H., Josefsson, T, Storaunet, K.O. & Ohlson, M. 2012. A refined view on the "Green lie": forest structure and composition succeeding early twentieth century selective logging in SE Norway. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 27: 270-284.
- Lindahl, K.B., Sténs, A., Sandström, C., Johansson, J., Lidskog, R., Ranius, T. & Roberge, J-M. 2017. The Swedish forestry model: more of everything? Forest Policy and Economics 77: 44–55.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Burton, P.J. & Franklin, J.F. 2008. Salvage logging and its ecological consequences. Island Press, Washington DC.
- Liu, C. & Westman, C. J. 2009. Biomass in a Norway spruce–Scots pine forest: a comparison of estimation methods. Boreal Environmental Research 14: 875–888.
- Living Forests Council (undated) Standard for sustainable forest management in Norway. http://www.levendeskog. no/levendeskog/vedlegg/51Levende_Skog_standard_Engelsk.pdf [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Losier, C.L., Couturier, S., St-Laurent, M-H., Drapeau, P., Dussault, C., Rudolph, T., Brodeur, V., Merkle, J.A. & Fortin, D. 2015. Adjustments in habitat selection to changing availability induce fitness costs for a threatened ungulate. Journal of Applied Ecology 52: 496–504.
- Luyssaert, S., Schulze, E-D., Börner, A., Knohl, A., Hessenmöller, D., Law, B.E., Ciais, P. & Grace, J. 2008. Old growth forests as global carbon sinks. Nature 115: 213-215.
- Malcolm, J.R. 2017. Affidavit in support of Greenpeace Motion to Strike. January 23, p.10. http://www.greenpeace.org/canada/Global/canada/report/2016/10/20170123-PACER-0098-3-Malcolm-Decl-Greenpeace-Defs-

Reply-re-MTD-and-Mtn-to-Strike.pdf

- Malcolm, J.R., Campbell, B.D., Kuttner, B.G. & Sugar, A. 2004. Potential indicators of the impacts of forest management on wildlife habitat in northeastern Ontario: a multivariate application of wildlife habitat suitability matrices. Forestry Chronicle 80: 91–106.
- Malouin, C. 2013. Ecosystem services potential: boreal forest case study. In: Human activity and the environment: measuring ecosystem goods and services in Canada, pp. 34-38. https://cfs.nrcan.gc.ca/publications/downloadpdf/35295
- McMullin, R.T., Thompson, I.D. & Newmaster, S.G. 2013. Lichen conservation in heavily managed boreal forests. Conservation Biology 27: 1020–1030.
- Moen, J., Rist, L., Bishop, K. et al. 2014. Eye on the Taiga: removing global policy impediments to safeguard the boreal forest. Conservation Letters 7: 408-418.
- Mollicone, D., Eva, H.D. & Achard, F. 2006. Human role in Russian wild fires. Nature 440: 436-437.
- Morales-Hidalgo, D., Oswalt, S.N. & Somanathan, E. 2015. Status and trends in global primary forest, protected areas, and areas designated for conservation of biodiversity from the Global Forest Resources Assessment 2015. Forest Ecology and Management 352: 68–77.
- Mosseler, A., Thompson, I. & Pendrel, B.A. 2003. Overview of old growth forests in Canada from a science perspective. Environmental Reviews 11: S1–S7.
- Nappi, A., Drapeau, P. & Leduc, A. 2015. How important is dead wood for woodpeckers foraging in eastern North American boreal forests? Forest Ecology and Management 346: 10–21.
- National Forestry Database, Canada 2017. Silviculture national tables. Area harvested by harvesting method, 2015. http://nfdp.ccfm.org/data/graphs/graph_61_e_e.php [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Natural Resources Canada 2017. Forest inventory http://www.nrcan.gc.ca/forests/climate-change/carbonaccounting/13111#inventory [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Natural Resources Defense Council 2017. Pandora's Box: clearcutting in the Canadian boreal unleashes millions of tons of previously uncounted carbon dioxide emissions. https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/pandoras-box-clearcutting-boreal-carbon-dioxide-emissions-ip.pdf.
- Naudts, K., Chen, Y., McGrath, M.J., Ryder, J., Valade, A., Otto, J. & Luyssaert, S. 2016. Europe's forest management did not mitigate climate warming. Science 351: 597-600.
- Nilsson, M-C. & Wardle, D.A. 2005. Understory vegetation as a forest ecosystem driver: evidence from the northern Swedish boreal forest. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 3: 421–428.
- Nordberg, M., Angelstam, P., Elbakidze, M. & Axelsson, R. 2013. From logging frontier towards sustainable forest management: experiences from boreal regions of North-West Russia and North Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 28: 797-810.
- Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, Canada 2014. Annual report on forest management 2012-2013. https://www.ontario.ca/page/annual-report-forest-management-2012-2013 [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Östlund, L., Zackrisson, O. & Axelsson, A.L. 1997. The history and transformation of a Scandinavian boreal forest landscape since the 19th century. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 27: 1198.1206.
- Pan, Y., Birdsey, R.A., Fang, J. et al. 2011. A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. Science 333: 988-993.
- Paquette, A. & Messier, C. 2011. The effect of biodiversity on tree productivity: from temperate to boreal forests. Global Ecology and Biogeography 20: 170–180.

Parviainen, J. & Västilä, S. 2011. State of Finland's forests 2011 based on the criteria and indicators of sustainable

forest management. Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry & Finnish Forest Research Institute (Metla) 5a/2011. http://www.metla.fi/metinfo/sustainability/doc/state-of-finlands-forests-2011.pdf

- Peltola, S., Kilpeläinen, H. & Asikainen, A. 2011. Recovery rates of logging residue harvesting in Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karsten) dominated stands. Biomass and Bioenergy 35: 1545-1551.
- Pennock, D.J. & van Kessel, C. 1997. Clear-cut forest harvest impacts on soil quality indicators in the mixedwood forest of Saskatchewan, Canada. Geoderma 75: 13–32.
- Ponomarev, E.I., Kharuk, V.I. & Ranson, K.J. 2016. Wildfires dynamics in Siberian larch forests. Forests 7: 125-134.
- Potapov, P., Yaroshenko, A., Turubanova, S. et al. 2008. Mapping the world's intact forest landscapes by remote sensing. Ecology and Society 13: 51.
- Potapov., P., Hansen, M.C., Laestadius, L. et al. 2017. The last frontiers of wilderness: tracking loss of intact forest landscapes from 2000 to 2013. Science Advances 3: e1600821.
- Pukkala, T. 2017. Does management improve the carbon balance of forestry? Forestry 90: 125–135.
- Resolute Forest Products 2018. Forestry and Fiber Sourcing, Our forests are 100% regenerated. http://www. pfresolu.com/Sustainability/Forestry_and_Fiber_Sourcing/ [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Rolstad, J., Blanck, Y-L. & Storaunet, K.O. 2017. Fire history in a western Fennoscandian boreal forest as influenced by human land use and climate. Ecological Monographs 87: 219–245.
- Rompré, G., Boucher, Y., Bélanger, L., Côté, S. & Robinson, W. 2010. Conserving biodiversity in managed forest landscapes: the use of critical thresholds for habitat. The Forestry Chronicle 86: 589-597.
- Ruckstuhl, K.E., Johnson, E.A. & Miyanishi, K. 2008. Introduction: the boreal forest and global change. Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society B 363: 2245–2249.
- Rudolph, T. D., Drapeau, P., St-Laurent, M-H. & Imbeau, L. 2012. Status of woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou*) in the James Bay Region of Northern Quebec. Scientific report presented to the Ministère des Ressources naturelles et de la Faune du Québec and the Grand Council of the Crees (Eeyou Istchee). Montreal, QC. http://www.gcc.ca/pdf/Final-Rapport-Status-of-Woodland-Caribou-James-Bay_Eeyou-Istchee. pdf
- Rudolph, T.D., Drapeau, P., Imbeau, L., Brodeur, V., Légaré, S. & St-Laurent, M-H. 2017. Demographic responses of boreal caribou to cumulative disturbances highlight elasticity of range-specific tolerance thresholds. Biological Conservation 26: 179–1198.
- Schulze, E-D., Körner, C., Law, B. E., Haberl, H. & Luyssaert, S. 2012. Large-scale bioenergy from additional harvest of forest biomass is neither sustainable nor greenhouse gas neutral. Invited editorial. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 4: 611–616.
- Seedre, M., Shrestha, B.M., Chen, H.Y.H., Colombo, S. & Jögiste, K. 2011. Carbon dynamics of North American boreal forest after stand replacing wildfire and clear-cut logging. Journal of Forest Research 16: 168–183.
- Seltenrich, N. 2013. Incineration versus recycling: in Europe, a debate over trash. Yale Environment 360. https:// e360.yale.edu/features/incineration_versus_recycling_in_europe_a_debate_over_trash [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Senici, D., Chen, H., Bergeron, Y. & Cyr, D. 2010. Spatiotemporal variations of fire frequency in central boreal forest. Ecosystems 13: 1227-1238.
- SGS 2016, Forest Management Certification Report SCA Skog AB (AD 36A-16 03.06.2016).https://info.fsc.org/ details.php?id=a0240000005sRQdAAM&type=certificate. [Accessed Mar 21st 2018]
- Shar, S., Lkhagvasuren, D., Henttonen, H., Maran, T. & Hanski, I. 2016. *Pteromys volans*. The IUCN Red List of threatened species 2016: e.T18702A115144995. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-3.RLTS. T18702A22270935.en [Accessed March 16 2018]

- Skogs Industrierna 2016. Raw Materials. Presentation. http://www.forestindustries.se/forest-industry/statistics/ raw-materials/ [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Soloway, A.D., Amiro, B.D., Dunn, A.L. & Wofsy, S.C. 2017. Carbon neutral or a sink? Uncertainty caused by gapfilling long-term flux measurements for an old-growth boreal black spruce forest. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 233: 110-121.
- Stephens, B.B., Gurney, K.R., Tans, P.P. et al. 2007. Weak northern and strong tropical land carbon uptake from vertical profiles of atmospheric vv. Science 316: 1732-1735.
- St-Laurent, M-H., Dussault, C., Ferron, J. & Gagnon, R. 2009. Dissecting habitat loss and fragmentation effects following logging in boreal forest: conservation perspectives from landscape simulations. Biological Conservation 142: 2240–2249.
- Sveaskog AB 2017. Communication on progress 2016. https://www.sveaskog.se/globalassets/trycksaker/ foretagsinformation/global_compact_2016.pdf
- Taylor, A.R., Seedre, M., Brassard, B.W. & Chen, H.Y.H. 2014. Decline in net ecosystem productivity following canopy transition to late-succession forests. Ecosystems 17: 778–791.
- Ter-Mikaelian, M.T., Colombo, S.J. & Chen, J. 2013. Effects of harvesting on spatial and temporal diversity of carbon stocks in a boreal forest landscape. Ecology and Evolution 3: 3738–3750.
- The Royal Swedish Academy of Agriculture and Forestry (KSLA) 2015. Forests and forestry in Sweden https://www. skogsstyrelsen.se/globalassets/in-english/forests-and-forestry-in-sweden_2015.pdf
- Thiffault, E. Hannam, K.D., Paré, D., Titus, B.D., Hazlett, P.W., Maynard, D.G. & Brais, S. 2011. Effects of forest biomass harvesting on soil productivity in boreal and temperate forests—a review. Environmental Reviews 19: 278–309.
- Thompson, I.D., Larson, D.J. & Montevecchi, W.A. 2003a. Characterization of old "wet boreal" forests, with an example from balsam fir forests of western Newfoundland. Environmental Reviews 11: S23-S46.
- Thompson, I.D., Baker, J.A. & Ter-Mikaelian, M. 2003b. A review of the long-term effects of post-harvest silviculture on vertebrate wildlife, and predictive models, with an emphasis on boreal forests in Ontario, Canada. Forest Ecology and Management 177: 441–469.
- Thompson, I.D., Kirk, D.A. & Jastrebski, C. 2013. Does post-harvest silviculture improve convergence of avian communities in managed forests with those using old growth boreal forests? Canadian Journal of Forest Research 43: 1050–1062.
- Tikkanen, O.P., Martikainen, P., Hyvärinen, E., Junninen, K. & Kouki, J. 2006. Red-listed boreal forest species of Finland: associations with forest structure, tree species, and decaying wood. Annales Zoologici Fennici 43: 373-383.
- Uhlig, P., Harris, A., Craig, G., Bowling, C., Chambers, B., Naylor B. & Beemer, G. 2001. Old growth forest definitions for Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, Canada. http://www.ontla.on.ca/library/repository/ mon/6000/10310919.pdf
- UN (United Nations) 2007. United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. http://www.un.org/esa/ socdev/unpfii/documents/DRIPS_en.pdf
- UN FAO (United Nations Food and Agriculture Organisation) 2012a. Forest Resource Assessment (FRA) 2015. Terms and Definitions. Forest Resources Assessment Working Paper 180. Rome, Italy. http://www.fao.org/3/ a-ap862e.pdf
- UN FAO (United Nations Food and Agriculture Organisation) 2012b. The Russian Federation forest sector outlook study to 2030. Rome, Italy. www.fao.org/docrep/016/i3020e/i3020e00.pdf
- Venier, L.A., Thompson, I.D., Fleming, J. et al. 2014. Effects of natural resource development on the terrestrial biodiversity of Canadian boreal forests. Environmental Reviews 22: 457-490.

- Vladimirova, N., Krylov, A., Milakovsky, B. & Purekhovsky, A. 2017. Influence of roads and cuttings to the death from fires forests of the south of the Far East [of Russia]. Sustainable Forest Management 2: 5-9 (in Russian). https://new.wwf.ru/upload/iblock/36c/02.pdf.
- Webster, K.L., Beall, F.D., Creed, I.F. & Kreutzweiser, D.P. 2015. Impacts and prognosis of natural resource development on water and wetlands in Canada's boreal zone. Environmental Reviews 23: 78–131.
- Wells, J., Childs, D., Reid, F., Smith, K., Darveau, M. & Courtois, V. 2014. Boreal birds need half: maintaining North America's bird nursery and why it matters. Boreal Songbird Initiative, Seattle, Washington, Ducks Unlimited Inc., Memphis, Tennessee, and Ducks Unlimited Canada, Stonewall, Manitoba. http://borealbirdsneedhalf.org/ en/files/BorealBirdsNeedHalf-Report.pdf
- Wells, J.D., Roberts, D., Lee, P., Cheng, R. & Darveau, M. 2010. A forest of blue—Canada's boreal forest: the world's waterkeeper. International Boreal Conservation Campaign, Pew Charitable Trusts. http://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/assets/2011/03/a_forest_of_blue_canadas_boreal.pdf
- Wells, J.V. & Blancher, P. 2011. Global role for sustaining bird populations. In: Wells, J.V. (ed.) Boreal birds of North America. Studies in Avian Biology (no. 41), University of California Press, Berkeley, USA. Ch. 2 pp.7-22.
- Wildlands League 2014. Roads: more than lines on a map. http://wildlandsleague.org/attachments/Roads_Map_Canada_Wide.pdf
- WWF 2017. Living planet report Canada 2017. A national look at wildlife loss. http://assets.wwf.ca/downloads/ WEB_WWF_REPORT_v3.pdf?_ga=2.186095087.771699627.1521137654-1348806233.1521137654
- Yale University 2018. Boreal zone. School of Forestry and Environment Studies. https://globalforestatlas.yale.edu/ boreal-zone [Accessed March 16 2018]
- Zhang, Y., Chen, H.Y.H. & Reich, P.B. 2012. Forest productivity increases with evenness, species richness and trait variation: a global meta-analysis. Journal of Ecology 100: 742–749.

Published June 2018

Greenpeace International Ottho Heldringstraat 5 1066 AZ Amsterdam The Netherlands

enquiries@greenpeace.org www.greenpeace.org